#### Unclassified

#### ENV/JM/MONO(2002)2



Organisation de Coopération et de Développement Economiques Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

08-Jan-2002

English - Or. English

# ENV/JM/MONO(2002)2 Unclassified

ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE JOINT MEETING OF THE CHEMICALS COMMITTEE AND THE WORKING PARTY ON CHEMICALS, PESTICIDES AND BIOTECHNOLOGY

Series on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology, No. 21

CONSENSUS DOCUMENT ON THE BIOLOGY OF PICEA SITCHENSIS (BONG.) CARR. (SITKA SPRUCE)

JT00119079

Document complet disponible sur OLIS dans son format d'origine Complete document available on OLIS in its original format

#### Also published in the Series on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology:

No. 1, Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology: Survey Results (1995)

No. 2, Analysis of Information Elements Used in the Assessment of Certain Products of Modern Biotechnology (1995)

No. 3, Report of the OECD Workshop on the Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology (1995)

No. 4, Industrial Products of Modern Biotechnology Intended for Release to the Environment: The Proceedings of the Fribourg Workshop (1996)

No. 5, Consensus Document on General Information concerning the Biosafety of Crop Plants Made Virus Resistant through Coat Protein Gene-Mediated Protection (1996)

No. 6, Consensus Document on Information Used in the Assessment of Environmental Applications Involving Pseudomonas (1997)

No. 7, Consensus Document on the Biology of Brassica napus L. (Oilseed Rape) (1997)

No. 8, Consensus Document on the Biology of Solanum tuberosum subsp. tuberosum (Potato) (1997)

No. 9, Consensus Document on the Biology of Triticum aestivum (Bread Wheat) (1999)

No. 10, Consensus Document on General Information Concerning the Genes and Their Enzymes that Confer Tolerance to Glyphosate Herbicide (1999)

No. 11, Consensus Document on General Information Concerning the Genes and Their Enzymes that Confer Tolerance to Phosphinothricin Herbicide (1999)

No. 12, Consensus Document on the Biology of Picea abies (L.) Karst (Norway Spruce) (1999)

No. 13, Consensus Document on the Biology of Picea glauca (Moench) Voss (White Spruce) (1999)

No. 14, Consensus Document on the Biology of Oryza sativa (Rice) (1999)

No. 15, Consensus Document on the Biology of Glycine max (L.) Merr. (Soybean) (2000)

No. 16, Consensus Document on the Biology of Populus L. (Poplars) (2000)

No. 17, Report of the OECD Workshop on Unique Identification Systems for Transgenic Plants, Charmey, Switzerland, 2-4 October 2000 (2001)

No. 18, Consensus Document on the Biology of Beta vulgaris L. (Sugar Beet)

No. 19, Report of the Workshop on the Environmental Considerations of Genetically Modified Trees, Norway, September 1999.

No. 20, Consensus Document on Information used in the Assessment of Environmnetal Applications Involving Baculovirus

#### © OECD 2002

Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this material should be made to: Head of Publications Service, OECD, 2 rue André-Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France.

# OECD Environment, Health and Safety Publications

Series on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology

No. 21

# Consensus Document on the Biology of Picea Sitchensis (Bong.) Carr. (Sitka Spruce)

**Environment Directorate** 

**Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development** 

Paris 2002

#### About the OECD

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) is an intergovernmental organisation in which representatives of 30 industrialised countries in North America, Europe and the Pacific, as well as the European Commission, meet to co-ordinate and harmonise policies, discuss issues of mutual concern, and work together to respond to international problems. Most of the OECD's work is carried out by more than 200 specialised Committees and subsidiary groups composed of Member country delegates. Observers from several countries with special status at the OECD, and from interested international organisations, attend many of the OECD's Workshops and other meetings. Committees and subsidiary groups are served by the OECD Secretariat, located in Paris, France, which is organised into Directorates and Divisions.

The Environment, Health and Safety Division publishes free-of-charge documents in eight different series: Testing and Assessment; Good Laboratory Practice and Compliance Monitoring; Pesticides; Risk Management; Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology; Chemical Accidents; Pollutant Release and Transfer Registers; and Emission Scenario Documents. More information about the Environment, Health and Safety Programme and EHS publications is available on the OECD's World Wide Web site (see below).

This publication is available electronically, at no charge.

For the complete text of this and many other Environment, Health and Safety publications, consult the OECD's World Wide Web site (http://www.oecd.org/ehs/)

or contact:

OECD Environment Directorate, Environment, Health and Safety Division

> 2 rue André-Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16 France

Fax: (33-1) 45 24 16 75

E-mail: ehscont@oecd.org

#### FOREWORD

The OECD's Working<sup>1</sup> Group on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology decided at its first session, in June 1995, to focus its work on the development of *consensus documents* which are mutually acceptable among Member countries. These consensus documents contain information for use during the regulatory assessment of a particular product. In the area of plant biosafety, consensus documents are being published on the biology of certain plant species, on selected traits that may be introduced into plant species, and on biosafety issues arising from certain general types of modifications made to plants.

This document addresses the biology of *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. (Sitka spruce). It contains general information as well as information on taxonomy, reproductive biology, crosses, genetics, ecology and domestication. It is intended for use by regulatory authorities and others who have responsibility for assessments of transgenic plants proposed for commercialisation, and by those who are actively involved with genetic improvement and intensive management of the genus.

Canada served as lead country in the preparation of this document. It has been revised on a number of occasions based on the input from other Member countries. The Joint Meeting of the Chemicals Committee and the Working Party on Chemicals, Pesticides and Biotechnology subsequently recommended that this document be made available to the public.

In August 1998, following a decision by OECD Council to rationalise the names of Committees and Working Groups across the OECD, the name of the "Expert Group on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology" became the "Working Group on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology."

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Foreward	•••••		. 5
Preamble			.9
Section I	Gen	eral Information	11
Section II	Tax	onomy and Natural Distribution	12
	A.	Taxonomy and nomenclature	12
	B.	Natural distribution	13
	C.	Evolution and migrational history	14
Section III	Rep	roductive Biology	15
	A.	Reproductive development	15
	B.	Mating system and gene flow	15
	C.	Seed production	16
	D.	Natural regeneration	16
	E.	Vegetative reproduction in nature	17
Section IV	Cro	sses	18
Section V	Gen	etics	19
	A.	Cytology	19
	B.	Genetic variation	19
		B.1 Population-level variability	19

		B.2 Individual-level variability	
	C.	Inbreeding depression and genetic load	21
	D.	Breeding programs	21
	E.	Conservation of genetic resources	22
Section VI	Ecc	ology and associated species	
	A.	Habitat	
		A.1 Climate	
		A.2 Soils and site type	
	B.	Synecology and associated species	
	C.	Competition and stand structure	
	D.	Ecosystem dynamics	25
	E.	Symbiotic Relationships - Mycorrhizae	27
Section VII	Do	omestication	
	A.	Deployment of reforestation materials	
	B.	Provenance transfer	
Section VIII	Su	ımmary	
Section IX	Re	eferences	31
Questionnaire	e		54

#### PREAMBLE

OECD member countries are moving rapidly towards the commercialisation and marketing of agricultural and industrial products of modern biotechnology. They have therefore identified the need for harmonization of regulatory approaches to the assessment of these products, in order to avoid unnecessary trade barriers.

In 1993, **Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology** was instituted as a joint project of the OECD's Environment Policy Committee and Committee on Agriculture. The objective of this project is to assist countries in their regulatory oversight of agricultural products derived through modern biotechnology – specifically in their efforts to ensure safety, to make oversight policies more transparent and efficient, and to facilitate trade. The project is focused on the review of national policies, with respect to regulatory oversight, that will affect the movement of these products into the marketplace.

The first step in this project was to carry out a survey concentrating on national policies with regard to regulatory oversight of these products. Data requirements for products produced through modern biotechnology, and mechanisms for data assessment, were also surveyed. The results were published in *Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology: Survey Results* (OECD, 1995).

Subsequently, an OECD workshop was held in June 1994 in Washington, D.C. with the aims of improving awareness and understanding of the various systems of regulatory oversight developed for agricultural products of biotechnology; identifying similarities and differences in various approaches; and identifying the most appropriate role for the OECD in further work towards harmonization of these approaches. Approximately 80 experts in the areas of environmental biosafety, food safety and varietal seed certification, representing 16 OECD countries, eight non-member countries, the European Commission and several international organisations, participated in the workshop. *Report of the OECD Workshop on the Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology* was also published by the OECD in 1995.

As a next step towards harmonization, the Working Group on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology instituted the development of *consensus documents* which are *mutually acceptable* among member countries. The purpose of these documents is to identify common elements in the safety assessment of a new plant variety developed through modern biotechnology, in order to encourage information sharing and prevent duplication of effort among countries. These common elements fall into two general categories: the biology of the host species, or crop; and the gene product.

The safety issues identified in the consensus documents on the biology of specific crop plants are intended to address the potential for gene transfer within the crop plant species, and among related

species, as well as the potential for weediness. They make no attempt to be definitive in this respect, however, as the many different environments in which the crop species may be grown are not considered individually.

This consensus document is a "snapshot" of current information that may be relevant in a regulatory risk assessment. It is meant to be useful not only to regulatory officials, as a general guide and reference source, but also to industry and others carrying out research.

In using this document, and others related to the biology of crop plants, reference to two OECD publications which have appeared in recent years will prove particularly useful. *Traditional Crop Breeding Practices: An Historical Review to Serve as a Baseline for Assessing the Role of Modern Biotechnology* presents information concerning 17 different crop plants. It includes sections on phytosanitary considerations in the movement of germplasm and on current end uses of the crop plants. There is also a detailed section on current breeding practices. *Safety Considerations for Biotechnology: Scale-Up of Crop Plants* provides a background on plant breeding, discusses scale dependency effects, and identifies various safety issues related to the release of plants with "novel traits."<sup>2</sup>

To ensure that scientific and technical developments are taken into account, OECD countries have agreed that consensus documents will be updated regularly. Additional areas relevant to the subject of each consensus document will be considered at the time of updating.

Users of this document are therefore invited to provide the OECD with new scientific and technical information, and to make proposals for additional areas to be considered. *There is a short, pre-addressed questionnaire for that purpose at the end of this document. The completed questionnaire (or a photocopy) should be returned to the OECD's Environmental Health and Safety Division at the address shown.* 

<sup>2</sup> 

For further information about these and other OECD publications which are on sale, contact the OECD's Publications Service, 2 rue André-Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France. Fax: (33) 01 49 10 42 76. Internet email: PUBSINQ@ oecd.org

#### SECTION I – GENERAL INFORMATION

This consensus document addresses the biology of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.). Sitka spruce is an ecologically important species of the north temperate coastal rain forest of western North America. It is a valuable species for both pulp and lumber. Its wood offers unique qualities for manufacture of the highest quality sounding boards and tops for many musical instruments. As well, an outstanding strength-to-weight ratio made Sitka spruce strategically important during both World Wars for construction of aircraft (Brazier, 1987). While its natural range is not extensive and the species' economic importance ranks far below that of other western conifers, it is a keystone species in some of the most productive ecosystems of North America, particularly in the Queen Charlotte Islands of British Columbia (Peterson et al., 1997). Outside its natural range, Sitka spruce has played an important role in plantation forestry, particularly in Northern Europe (Hermann, 1987). In Great Britain, the species now accounts for almost 70% of the annual conifer planting stock (Malcolm, 1997) and plantations cover over 20% of the forest/woodland area (Cannell and Milne, 1995). Sitka spruce is also a primary plantation species in Brittany, where productivity of stands is similar to that in Britain (Vaudelet, 1982; Serrière-Chadoeuf, 1986; Guyon, 1995).

The general biology of Sitka spruce is described in the context of the species' role in natural forests and its domestication in planted stands. Taxonomic and evolutionary relationships with other *Picea* species are described. Reproductive biology is described with a focus on aspects of mating system, gene flow, seed production and natural stand establishment. The current knowledge of genetic variation within the species is reviewed, highlighting the importance of variation patterns and the potential for improvement by means of recurrent selection breeding strategies. Biological diversity and ecological interactions with higher and lower flora and fauna are discussed. Domestication and operational breeding activities are reviewed. While Sitka spruce reforestation is currently based on seed propagation, vegetative propagation of rooted cuttings is well advanced, and somatic-embryogenesis techniques are available making it a logical target for implementation of transgenic biotechnologies and the use of cloning in both breeding and deployment strategies.

This document was prepared by the lead country, Canada. It is intended for use by regulatory authorities and others who have a responsibility for conducting assessments of transgenic plants proposed for commercialisation, and by those who are actively involved with genetic improvement and intensive management of this species.

#### SECTION II – TAXONOMY AND NATURAL DISTRIBUTION

#### A. Taxonomy and nomenclature

Sitka spruce (*épinette Sitka* in French Canada, *épicéa Sitka* in France, *Sitkafichte* in Germany) is one of about 40 species of the genus *Picea* A. Dietr. (family Pinaceae) distributed throughout the cooler parts of the North Temperate Zone and higher elevations in the south. It is also one of 7 species native to North America and 5 native to Canada (Farrar, 1995). There is lack of agreement among taxonomists regarding the subdivision of the genus *Picea* (Schmidt-Vogt, 1977). Most early taxonomists suggested dividing the genus into three sections: Eupicea (or Morinda), Casicta, and Omorika. Mikkola (1969) recommended recognition of only two sections: Abies and Omorika. After extensive crossability studies, Fowler (1983, 1987) has suggested that the section Omorika be further divided into two subsections: Omorikoides and Glaucoides, with Sitka spruce assigned to the latter, together with white spruce and Engelmann spruce.

Originally introduced to Great Britain by David Douglas in the early 1800s as *Pinus menziesii*, the species was described soon after by the French botanist Bongard as *Pinus sitchensis*, referring to the origin of his specimens, Sitka Island, Alaska (now known as Baranoff Island) (Peterson et al., 1997). Carrière later recognised the species as a member of genus *Picea*, and the species is now well recognised as *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Common names are numerous, including airplane spruce, coast spruce, Menzies spruce, silver spruce, tideland spruce, western spruce, and yellow spruce. A famous rare mutant form found on the Queen Charlottes is known as golden spruce (Peterson et al., 1997).

Introgressive hybridization between Sitka and white spruce (*Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss) occurs in sympatric areas in north-western British Columbia and Alaska, with the hybrid known as *Picea*  $\times$  *lutzii* Little (Little, 1953; Daubenmire, 1968; Roche, 1969; Hanover and Wilkinson, 1970; Copes and Beckwith, 1977; Yeh and Arnott, 1986; Woods, 1988). Introgressive hybridization between white and Englemann spruce (*Picea englemannii* Parry ex Engelm.) is common where the two are sympatric in western Canada, Montana and Wyoming, and the hybrids have given rise to the variety *Picea glauca* var. *albertiana* (S. Brown) Sarg., commonly known as "interior spruce" (Roche, 1969; Roche et al., 1969; Daubenmire, 1974). Sitka spruce hybridises with Englemann spruce through controlled crosses (Johnson, 1939; Roche, 1969; Jeffers, 1971; Fowler and Roche, 1977; Kiss, 1989), and there is evidence suggesting that hybrids among Sitka, white and interior spruce also occur naturally (Woods, 1988; Sutton et al., 1991a, b, 1994; Coates et al., 1994; Grossnickle et al., 1996a, b). Several horticultural varieties, most of them dwarf phenotypes, have been recognised (Krüssmann, 1985; Griffiths, 1994).

YUKON BRITISH COLUMBIA



Figure 1. The natural range of Sitka spruce (from Harris, 1978)

#### **B.** Natural distribution

50

The natural range of Sitka spruce spans a narrow strip on the north Pacific coast of North America, extending for 2 900 km from 61°N latitude in south-central Alaska to 39°N in northern California. Throughout this tremendous north-south range, Sitka spruce is a coastal species, occupying islands of the Alexander Archipelago in Alaska and the Queen Charlotte Islands in British Columbia, and, with the exception of river valleys, they rarely reach more than a few kilometers from the coast along a narrow mainland strip. The southern limit of the species is an isolated population in Mendocino County, California (Harris, 1978). The natural range of Sitka spruce is illustrated in the map given in Figure 1.

#### C. Evolution and migrational history

Conifers probably originated around the periphery of the north Pacific basin (Li, 1953). Fossil records indicate that divergence of modern genera in Pinaceae occurred some 135 million years ago during the late Jurassic or early Cretaceous period (Florin, 1963). Based on comparative immunological studies, Prager *et al.* (1976) have suggested that *Picea* was among the first genera to emerge. Although not supported by fossil evidence, Wright (1955) suggested eastern Asia as the likely origin of *Picea*, based on the abundance of species and particularly the presence of *Picea koyamai* Shirasawa, which he felt was a primitive species. *Picea* is then thought to have migrated to North American in one or more waves of migration via a land bridge between Siberia and Alaska (Wright, 1955).

Phylogenetic relationships within coniferous genera are commonly interpreted from species crossability studies, where it is assumed that the more related are two species, the more easily they can be crossed (Wright, 1955; Critchfield, 1975). The close phylogenetic relationship between the north-western American "white" spruces (Sitka, white, and Engelmann spruce) and the eastern Asiatic *Picea jezoensis* (Sieb et Zucc.) Carr. (Wright, 1955; Roche and Fowler, 1975) supports this theory, at least for the members of the subsection Glaucoides in section Omorika, and suggests that speciation occurred after their arrival in North America.

The fossil record of *Picea* during the Pleistocene era in North America is incomplete, but it is believed that many conifer populations were fragmented and isolated in various refugia during the glacial period (Critchfield, 1984). Sitka spruce probably occupied roughly its present-day range before glaciation, surviving at higher elevations on hills and mountains, and reoccupying lower areas of the long coastal strip in British Columbia and Alaska soon after (Daubenmire, 1968; Page and Hollands, 1987).

#### **SECTION III – REPRODUCTIVE BIOLOGY**

#### A. Reproductive development

Sitka spruce is monoecious. Development of the reproductive structures follows a 2-year cycle typical of most conifers in the northern hemisphere, other than *Pinus* species and members of the Cupressaceae family (Owens and Blake, 1985). Bud scales are initiated at the terminal apex and at newly initiated axillary apices within the enlarging vegetative buds, from about mid-April (Owens and Molder, 1976a; Cannell and Bowler, 1978). Apices differentiate as vegetative, pollen cone, or seed cone buds around mid-July, at the cessation of shoot elongation. Pollen cones typically develop from small axillary apices on vigorous distal shoots or terminal apices on less vigorous, proximal shoots. Seed cones usually develop on distal axillary positions on vigorous shoots or from smaller terminal apices on less vigorous shoots (Moir and Fox, 1975a; Owens and Molder, 1976b).

Pollen cone bud development is complete, although meiosis has not occurred before they become dormant at the end of October. Seed cones also do not undergo meiosis prior to becoming dormant in late November (Owens and Molder, 1976b). By the time buds become dormant, all microsporophylls, microsporangia, bracts and functional ovuliferous scales, and leaves have been initiated. The overwintering seed cone, pollen cone, and vegetative buds are small and similar in shape: broadly conical, greenish-brown and covered in a bloom of light grey resin (Moir and Fox, 1975a; Eis and Craigdallie, 1981).

Reproductive and vegetative buds break dormancy at about the same time, in response to photoperiod, while subsequent development is regulated by temperature. Meiosis and subsequent development of pollen occur immediately, followed by maturation of the megagametophyte (Moir and Fox, 1975b; Owens and Molder, 1980). Flushing of reproductive buds precedes that of vegetative buds, and pollen is released over a one-week period, in late-April on Vancouver Island (Owens and Molder, 1980) and by mid-May in Scotland (Moir and Fox, 1975a). The pollen enters receptive seed cones and adheres to the sticky micropylar arms. A week later, a "pollination drop" draws the pollen into the micropyle (Owens and Blake, 1984). Fertilisation occurs 4 to 5 weeks later, and embryo development is completed in mid-August. Without fertilisation, no embryo is formed and the megagametophyte tissue degenerates, leaving a normal-sized, but empty seed (Owens and Molder, 1980).

#### **B.** Mating system and gene flow

Sitka spruce is a wind-pollinated, monoecious species, and outcrossing is by far the most prevalent mating system (Cottrell and White, 1995). Self pollination occurs to some degree, as the period of pollen release and female receptivity coincide for an individual tree (Owens and Molder, 1980; El-Kassaby and Reynolds 1990). Female strobili are usually found at the ends of primary branches in the mid- to upper-crown, while males are more prevalent at the ends of secondary branches lower in the crown (Tompsett, 1978; Philipson, 1997), although the effectiveness of this zonation against selfing is

questionable (Nienstaedt and Teich, 1972). In the open-grown conditions in a seed orchard, the outcrossing rate was greatly reduced for seeds produced in the lower crown (Chaisurisri et al., 1994). The two-step pollination mechanism, whereby pollen is collected in the sticky micropyllar arms over the receptive period, and only then drawn *en masse* by the pollination drop, ensures that pollen from many sources has a chance to fertilise any given ovule (Owens and Blake, 1984; Runions et al., 1995).

Gene flow in *Picea* is mediated by small pollen grains, 70-85  $\mu$ m at their widest point (Eisenhut, 1961), whose bladdery wings make them well-adapted for aerial transport (Di-Giovanni and Kevan, 1991). Various studies of pollen dispersal in conifers indicate that over 90% of the pollen comes to rest less than 100 m from the source (Wright, 1976). Nevertheless, conifer pollen may remain viable for several days and a substantial quantity may travel great distances (Lindgren et al., 1995; Lindgren and Lindgren, 1996). Gregory (1973) cites reports that pollen of *Pinus* and *Picea* may travel as far as 600 to 1 000 km, and several authors have concluded that isolation distances of less than 1 km often have little impact on contamination rates in conifer seed orchards (see review by Di-Giovanni and Kevan, 1991). While pollen dynamics are not well known in Sitka spruce, a recent study of pollen dispersal dynamics in a black spruce seed orchard indicated that "large amounts" of pollen rose to a height of 300 m above ground level (Di-Giovanni *et al.* 1996). At a steady wind speed of 5 m·s<sup>-1</sup>, the authors calculated that spruce pollen reaching this altitude would drift about 47 km.

#### C. Seed production

Sitka spruce begins to produce seed at 20 to 25 years of age, with heavy crops occurring at intervals of 3 to 5 years (Malcolm, 1987; Philipson, 1987b). Crop intervals are somewhat longer, 5 to 8 years, in the northern part of the range (Harris, 1969). It is a prolific seed producer and, in a good seed year, an old-growth stand may produce as much as 14.5 kg of seed per hectare (Peterson et al., 1997). The seeds themselves are small, and average cleaned seed weight is about 2.2 g/1000 seeds (Safford, 1974).

Initiation and duration of seed dispersal are weather and site dependent. The mature cones open as they lose moisture and the scales flex in dry weather, re-closing during wet periods. Seed dispersal begins in the fall, with over 70% of the seeds dispersed within the first 6 weeks, 90% by February, and the remainder released over the next growing season (Ruth, 1958; Harris, 1969). The seeds are winged and wind-dispersed. The actual distance reached from the source depends on several factors, including height and position of the seed source, local topography and wind conditions (Harris, 1967, 1978). While 80% of the seed usually falls within 30 metres the parent tree, some may travel up to several hundred metres (Mair, 1973).

#### **D.** Natural regeneration

Sitka spruce seeds exhibit weak dormancy, and both the rate and total amount of germination can be increased by exposure to low temperatures under moist conditions, i.e., cold stratification (Pintaric, 1972; Gordon et al., 1976; Gosling, 1988; Chaisurisri et al., 1992; Jinks and Jones, 1996). While not always employed in nursery practice, moist-chilling of Sitka spruce seed is often beneficial, particularly when moisture content and temperature are carefully controlled (Gosling and Rigg, 1990; Jones et al., 1993; Jones and Gosling, 1994), and stratified seed will tolerate redrying (Jones and Gosling, 1996). In the wild, Sitka spruce seeds normally germinate the following spring, as soon as soil surface temperatures are warm enough and provided there is adequate moisture.

Unlike its highly shade tolerant associates western hemlock and western red cedar that can germinate and survive on organic seedbeds, Sitka spruce is more restricted in its seedbed and light requirements and tends to be more disturbance dependent (Taylor, A.H., 1990; Peterson et al., 1997). Sitka spruce regenerates naturally on landslides, newly exposed alluvial sites, and openings created by windthrow. Regeneration cutting systems in Sitka spruce must generate sufficient ground exposure and disturbance, by clear cutting, shelterwood or seed-tree methods (Harris and Johnson, 1983; Weetman and Vyse, 1990). Regarding thinning operations in mixed western hemlock, Sitka spruce stands will normally favour regeneration of the hemlock over the spruce, particularly in older stands where thinning intensity is light (Deal and Farr, 1994). Dense natural regeneration has been more commonly observed after harvesting of first-generation planted stands in Britain, with up to several hundreds of thousands per hectare and requiring spacing (Nelson, 1991; Adam and Berg, 1996).

#### E. Vegetative reproduction in nature

Vegetative reproduction of Sitka spruce is rare under natural conditions or in plantations, although layering can occur on moist sites (Cooper, 1931; Roche and Fowler, 1975). Rooting is most likely to occur when lower branches of open-grown trees come in contact with the ground and become covered by soil or organic materials on the edges of bogs or near the timber line (Harris, 1978).

#### **SECTION IV – CROSSES**

Potential crosses with Sitka spruce are summarised in Table 1. Natural hybrids between Sitka and white spruce were first collected in North America by H.J. Lutz on the Kenai Peninsula, Alaska, and given the name Picea × lutzii by E.L. Little (1953). Before this, white-Sitka spruce hybrids had been observed in Denmark as a result of natural crossing between adjacent plantations (Thaarup, 1945; Bornebusch, 1946). Populations resulting from introgressive hybridization have since been documented in the Skeena, Nass, and Bulkley river valleys in British Columbia where the two species are sympatric (Daubenmire, 1968; Roche, 1969). The hybrid has frequently been made artificially with parents from outside the sympatric area (Fowler, 1987), often in the hope of imparting the resistance of white spruce to the white pine weevil. The degree of cold hardiness of the hybrid is related to the proportion of white spruce germplasm (Ying and Morgenstern, 1982), and growth performance of the hybrid depends greatly on the origin of the parents (Sheppard and Cannell, 1985). Though Picea breweriana and Picea sitchensis can cross successfully, P. breweriana has a very small range that is rarely, if ever, sympatric with P. sitchensis given that the populations are separated by elevation. The category of "easily crossed, probably occurring naturally" indicates species that readily cross with P. sitchensis if grown together in artificial plantations, but are not naturally sympatric.

Species	Origin	References
Commonly occurring in sympatric range		
<i>P. glauca</i> (Moench) Voss.= $Picea \times lutzii$ Little	Canada, Northeast USA	Daubenmire, 1968; Roche, 1969; Fowler, 1987; Woods, 1988
Easily crossed, probably occurring naturally	,	
P. englemannii Parry ex Engelm.	Canada, Western USA	Johnson, L.P.V. 1939; Roche, 1969; Jeffers, 1971; Fowler and Roche, 1977; Kiss, 1989
P. breweriana Wats.	Northwest USA	Langner 1952
P. mariana (Mill.) B.S.P.	Canada, Northern USA	Fowler, 1983
Successful crosses		
P. jezoensis (Sieb. & Zucc.) Carr.	Japan	Wright, 1955; Roulund, 1969
P. omorika (Pancic) Purkyne	Western Serbia, Eastern Bosnia	Johnson, 1939; Langner, 1959; Roulund, 1971; Geburek and Krusche, 1985
Possible crossability		
P. abies (L.) Karst (=P. excelsa (Lam.) Link)	Northern, Central, Eastern Europe	Langner, 1952
P. likiangensis (Franch.) Pritz.	China	Roche and Fowler, 1975
P. pungens Engelm.	Western USA	Roche and Fowler, 1975
P. wilsonii Mast.	China	Roulund, 1969

Table 1. Species cross compatibility with Sitka spruce

#### **SECTION V – GENETICS**

#### A. Cytology

Sitka spruce vegetative cells normally have 2n = 24 chromosomes (Burley, 1965b; Fox, 1987), although some trees exhibit a small 13th pair (Moir and Fox, 1972; Kean et al., 1982). These supernumerary or B-chromosomes seem to be restricted to provenances in the southern half of the species range (Moir and Fox, 1977), but have not been associated with any detectable effect on growth (Moir and Fox, 1976).

#### **B.** Genetic variation

#### **B.1** Population-level variability

Before 1970, information on population variation of Sitka spruce was only available from small studies with limited sampling. Even in these first limited trials, there was strong evidence of clinal variation for many traits, associated with latitude, elevation, and distance from the coast (Burley, 1965a; Roche and Fowler, 1975). In 1969/70, an extensive sampling of seed sources from across the entire range was organised by the International Union of Forest Research Organizations (IUFRO). Ten of these sources were widely planted in field tests in North America and many European countries (O'Driscoll, 1978).

Clinal variation patterns are expressed for phenological traits such as cessation of growth (Lines and Mitchell, 1966; Pollard et al., 1975; Kraus and Lines, 1976), and is greater among provenances than within (Falkenhagen, 1977; Deleporte, 1984). Southern coastal provenances produce up to 100% more height growth than northern inland sources (Cannell, 1974; Cannell and Willett, 1975; Cannell and Willet, 1976). While southern sources grow faster, they are more susceptible to frost damage, particularly in the nursery (Magnesen, 1986; Lines, 1987b; McKay, 1994). Provenance trials in the former Federal Republic of Germany showed a north-south trend in growth, with latitude accounting for over 80% of the among-provenance variation (Kleinschmit, 1984). Results of a 19 year provenance trial in Ireland demonstrated that the most productive provenances of Sitka Spruce for the mild, coastal conditions in Ireland originated from southern Washington and northern Oregon (Thompson and Pfeifer, 1995).

Ecotypic variation related to bioclimatic and physiographic factors has been demonstrated among provenances for seed and cone traits (Falkenhagen, 1978; Falkenhagen and Nash, 1978). Even for growth traits that normally exhibit clinal variation patterns, substantial variation may be present at the microgeographic level, attributable to such local site factors as slope and aspect (Campbell et al., 1989). Variation in biochemical composition appears to be clinal for sources from Alaska to north Washington, while more southerly sources show no geographic trends, perhaps reflecting the post-glacial recolonisation of northern parts of the range (Forrest, 1975b, 1980; Wellendorf and Kaufmann, 1977).

Population differences have also been demonstrated for susceptibility to insect attack. Provenances from Kitwamga (inland Skeena River) and Big Qualicum (SE Vancouver Island) suffer less damage from the white pine weevil (Alfaro and Ying, 1990; Tomlin and Borden, 1994; Ying and Ebata, 1994). Density of green spruce aphids attacking a provenance test in northern Ireland was related to latitude of seed origin, with southern provenances especially susceptible (Day, 1984). Lignified stone cell masses in spruce bark are considered an important physical defence against insects and fungi, and there is a clinal increase in bark lignin with increasing latitude of provenance origin (Wainhouse and Ashburner, 1996).

In contrast to many other characters, geographic variation at polymorphic allozyme loci appears to be weak. In a study of the 10 IUFRO provenances, only 8% of the diversity at polymorphic loci was due to differences among populations, whereas 92% resided within populations (Yeh and El-Kassaby, 1980).

#### B.2 Individual-level variability

While variation among provenances is important in determining the risks and benefits of transferring seed sources, genetic improvement from mass selection relies primarily on variation withinpopulations as the source of genetic gains. For productivity traits, on average, 40% of the genetic variation for Sitka spruce is at the provenance level, while 60% is within provenance (Fletcher, 1992).

Estimates of narrow-sense heritabilities for height growth during the first six years was around 25% for open-pollinated progeny of randomly selected trees in a single population (Samuel and Johnstone, 1979), while another study estimated heritability at over 40% for height after eight years (Birot and Christophe, 1983). Other quantitative estimates of additive genetic variation in growth traits have also varied widely (Falkenhagen, 1977; Yeh and Rasmussen, 1985; Samuel, 1991), but narrow-sense heritability is normally more than sufficient for individual tree selection and breeding to be effective, particularly when provenance and family performance are combined in a multiple-trait selection index (Christophe and Birot, 1983). Height superiority of individual trees is not necessarily associated with production of "free growth", although progeny of plus-trees have been noted to improve their height rankings over the first six years on better sites by production of free growth (Cannell and Johnstone, 1978).

Perhaps the most precise estimates of genetic variance for Sitka spruce have been reported for a 7-tree diallel cross, planted at two test sites in Scotland and Wales (Samuel et al., 1972; Samuel, 1991). In this experiment, genetic variation for height growth, although under some additive genetic control, was predominantly controlled by non-additive effects, whereas diameter was only controlled by additive effects. Practically all the variation in monoterpene composition for these crosses was attributable to additive genetic effects, and reflected the differences in parental means in additive combination with little significant deviation due to specific combining ability or reciprocal effects (Forrest and Samuel, 1988).

The ease of vegetative propagation of Sitka spruce offers opportunities to capture additional gains earlier in the breeding cycle. Clonal selection has been demonstrated to be highly effective in Sitka spruce, for characters such as planting stock phenology, frost resistance (Nielsen and Roulund, 1996), root-growth potential (Deans et al., 1992), early height and diameter growth, and branching habit (Cahalan, 1981). Clonal testing has also demonstrated that it is possible to select clones that combine good growth with high wood density (Costa e Silva et al., 1994).

A provenance test in British Columbia demonstrated significant difference in susceptibility to white pine weevil, both among provenances and among families within provenances (Alfaro and Ying, 1990; Ying, 1991). Unfortunately, a study of variation within a resistant provenance found that taller families were more likely to be attacked (Alfaro et al., 1993).

Variation in biochemical composition for trees within provenances is high (Forrest, 1975a, b; Wellendorf and Kaufmann, 1977), a trend that is also found for variation at polymorphic enzyme loci (Yeh and El-Kassaby, 1980). While southern provenances are generally less resistant to frost, there is sufficient variation within populations to select frost resistant, fast-growing individuals (Nicoll et al., 1996).

Genotype-environment interactions are of concern to tree breeders who generally seek broad adaptability within bred material. A seedling test of provenances grown under controlled environments found that provenances near the centre of the range were more broadly adapted (Mergen et al., 1974). A test of families originating from the latitudinal range of Sitka spruce and planted at eight locations in Britain found highly significant family-site interaction for six-year height, but found that above-average families could be selected that were broadly adapted (Johnstone and Samuel, 1978). A progeny test established at 3 locations in Denmark demonstrated genetic control of growth, stem form, wood density (pilodyn penetration), frost resistance and resistance to aphids, in addition to substantial genotype–environment interaction for growth characters (Jensen et al., 1996). Another clonal test in Denmark found that 15% of the clones contributed over 50% of the GE interaction variance (Nielsen and Roulund, 1996).

#### C. Inbreeding depression and genetic load

Self pollination in Sitka spruce has severe effects on seed set, early growth, and survival (Samuel et al., 1972). Among those that survive, strong inbreeding depression continues with selfed individuals only 68% as tall as outcrossed trees at 15 years of age (Samuel, 1991). Inbreeding depression is also exhibited by progeny originating from seed collections in small stands (Phillips, 1984).

#### **D.** Breeding programs

Breeding strategies for Sitka spruce generally utilise a system of progeny testing and recurrent selection for generation advancement, combined with clonal seed orchards for production of improved seed. Flowering of Sitka spruce grafts can be stimulated by means of various cultural treatments, particularly those involving gibberellin  $A_{4/7}$ , and this has facilitated the turnover of breeding cycles (Philipson, 1985a, b, 1987a, 1992; Philipson et al., 1990; Ross, 1991; Owens et al., 1992). While most seed orchards currently in production were established by grafting cuttings from plus-trees, and their placement in cultivated field environments, some programs have also experimented with the management of containerised Sitka spruce orchards, with the possibility of vegetative multiplication of small quantities of seed by rooted cuttings (John and Mason, 1987; Philipson and Fletcher, 1990).

Breeding programs have been established in all the areas where Sitka spruce is an important plantation species. In British Columbia, where planting of Sitka spruce is severely limited due to risk of damage by the white pine weevil, the breeding plan emphasises weevil resistance. Currently, more than 250 open-pollinated families and 300 clones are included in weevil-resistance screening trials (King, 1994; King et al., 1998). The intensive breeding program in Britain began in the early 70's (Fletcher and Faulkner, 1972), and is by far the most ambitious. From an initial 2 800 plus-tree selections, the breeding population now consists of 200 tested parents, subdivided into sub-populations targeted for different

geographic areas (Faulkner, 1987; Fletcher, 1992; Malcolm, 1997). Breeding programs are also carried out in Denmark (Roulund, 1990) and in northern France (Deleporte and Roman-Amat, 1986), where Sitka spruce is an important component of plantation forestry operations.

#### E. Conservation of genetic resources

Domestication of a key species such as Sitka spruce can influence diversity of genetic resources: (1) indirectly, by the method of seed collection, extraction, and storage, and by nursery and plantation culture; and (2) directly, by intentional selection to increase the frequency of genes for desirable traits (Chaisurisri and El-Kassaby, 1994; Morgenstern, 1996). The inadvertent loss of genes by natural processes and human activity can have negative consequences on the adaptability of populations and the potential for future gains from breeding. The need for gene conservation for a species can be assessed by evaluating (1) its current status of protection, (2) its frequency of occurrence, (3) the extent of its botanical range, (4) ease of natural regeneration, and (5) its representation in genetic testing and breeding programs (Lester, 1996). Using this approach, Yanchuk and Lester (1996) ranked the need of Sitka spruce for gene conservation as higher than some of its associates (Douglas-fir, western red cedar and western hemlock), but lower than others (mountain hemlock, amabilis fir, yellow-cedar and western white pine).

In the case of Sitka spruce, *in situ* conservation of genetic resources is practised by protection of ecological reserves, special areas, and parks (Pollard, 1995), and integrated with domestication activities that control the movement of seed, active management of existing stands to maintain biological diversity, and protection of isolated, small populations (Yanchuk, 1995). *Ex situ* conservation, by cryopreservation of germplasm, by off-site maintenance of populations in arboreta and clone banks, and by multipopulation breeding strategies (Eriksson et al., 1993; Namkoong, 1995), has been practised to a much lesser extent, although many provenances and families are now represented in field tests and seed bank collections (Edwards and El-Kassaby, 1993). Such "active" forms of gene management must be accelerated in preparation for response to rapid environmental and climate changes (Ledig and Kitzmiller, 1992; Yanchuk and Lester, 1996).

#### SECTION VI – ECOLOGY AND ASSOCIATED SPECIES

#### A. Habitat

In its natural range, Sitka spruce is primarily a coastal species, but may extend well inland where optimum environmental conditions occur (Harris, 1990). It is primarily a low elevation species and is uncommon at elevations above 500 m. It is, however, much less restricted by edaphic factors than by climate and physiography (Roche and Haddock, 1987).

#### A.1 Climate

The natural range of Sitka spruce is restricted to an area of maritime climate with abundant moisture throughout the year, relatively mild winters and cool summers. Annual precipitation is high throughout the range, but somewhat greater in the north where summer precipitation as light drizzle and fog are frequent. Summer temperatures in these coastal habitats lack the extremes of more continental areas and, while moderated by the ocean current of the north Pacific, decrease northward. Although winters are mild, accumulated heat input varies with latitude and probably accounts for much of the variation in productivity, soil development, and associated species (Harris, 1978).

#### A.2 Soils and site type

While Sitka spruce grows on soil derived from a variety of parent materials, their best development is on deep, moist, well-aerated soils. Growth is poor on swampy sites. Sitka spruce commonly occupies alluvial soils along streams, coarse-textured soils, or soils with a thick accumulation of organic matter. In Alaska, it is a pioneering species on immature soils exposed by glacial retreat or uplift from the sea. Soils in the natural range are acidic, with pH values varying from 4.0 to 5.7 (Harris, 1978).

Sitka spruce is relatively nutrient demanding, particularly at young ages prior to crown closure (Miller and Miller, 1987). It is most productive on nitrogen rich soils, but also requires relatively large amounts of calcium, magnesium and phosphorus (Krajina, 1969). Nitrogen and phosphorus have been found to be limiting on sites in both British Columbia and Britain, and applications of fertilisers may be necessary for successful plantation establishment (McIntosh, 1981, 1983; Miller and Miller, 1987; Taylor, C.M.A., 1990; Taylor and Tabbush, 1990; Prescott and Weetman, 1994).

#### **B.** Synecology and associated species

Sitka spruce occurs most commonly in mixed stands, usually associated with western hemlock (*Tsuga heterophylla*) (Harris and Johnson, 1983). Red alder (*Alnus rubra*) and black cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) are associated throughout the range. Other associates vary with latitude: Douglas-

fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), Port-Orford-cedar (*Chamaecyparis lawsoniana*), western white pine (*Pinus monticola*), redwood (*Sequoia sempervirens*), and bigleaf maple (*Acer macrophyllum*) are limited to the south; shore pine (*Pinus contorta* var. *contorta*) and western red cedar (*Thjua plicata*) extend into south-east Alaska; while yellow cedar (*Chamaecyparis nootkatensis*), mountain hemlock (*Tsuga mertensiana*), subalpine fir (*Abies lasiocarpa*), and Sitka alder (*Alnus sinuata*) are limited to northern sites and higher elevations in the south (Harris, 1978). In Alaska and the Skeena, Nass, and Bulkley river valleys of British Columbia, Sitka spruce is associated with white spruce (*Picea glauca*), and hybrid populations are found (Daubenmire, 1968; Roche, 1969). Pure stands of Sitka spruce are common on tidewater areas that receive quantities of salt spray, and in early succession situations following disturbance. Sitka spruce is an aggressive pioneer and, by itself or together with intolerant associates such as alder or cottonwood, will invade landslides, dunes, uplifted beaches and glaciated terrain.

Due to the latitudinal spread of the Sitka spruce range and the variation in precipitation and exposure, the species is a component of several ecological associations, characterised by available moisture and nutrient regimes. On the mid- to upper-slopes of the Queen Charlotte Islands, the western hemlock – Sitka spruce forest is typically associated with Alaska blueberry (*Vaccinium alaskaense*), red huckleberry (*V. parifolium*), ovalleaf huckleberry (*V. ovalifolium*), and several mosses (*Rhytidiadelphus loreus, Hylocomium splendens*, and *Mnium glabrescens*). On exposed coastal locations, pure stands of salt-tolerant Sitka spruce are associated with reed grass (*Calamagrostis nutkaensis*), salal (*Gaultheria shallon*) and finger moss (*Stokesiella oregana*). Sheltered alluvial sites find Sitka spruce and its associates western hemlock and red alder on grass meadows with *Trisetum cernum*, *Gymnocarpium dryopteris*, *Hylocomium splendens* and *Leucolepis menziesii* (Roche and Haddock, 1987; Hanley and Hoel, 1996; Hanley and Brady, 1997).

Inland valleys and eastern slopes of coastal mountains tend to be drier. It is on these areas that Sitka spruce is most likely to be sympatric with white spruce and hybridization can occur. Within this drier zone, valley bottoms and mountain slopes typically support mixed conifer forests with ground vegetation dominated by Alaska blueberry, ovalleaf huckleberry, red huckleberry, and rustyleaf menziesii (*Menziesia ferruginea*). Devil's club (*Oplopanax horridus*) appears within this zone on fluvial sites of the Skeena and Nass Rivers, and skunk cabbage (*Lysichiton americanum*) and salmonberry (*Rubus spectabilis*) are found on the driest sites in flat areas (Roche and Haddock, 1987; Harris, 1990).

#### C. Competition and stand structure

While Sitka spruce is rated as tolerant to shade, it is less tolerant than its usual associate, western hemlock (Daniel et al., 1979; Minore, 1979; Kobe and Coates, 1997), so that the general successional tendency is toward a western hemlock climax type, although few climax stands proceed to pure hemlock. As Sitka spruce is physically large, long-lived, and able to invade small openings resulting from windthrow, it is commonly maintained as a stand component, even under climax conditions. In south-east Alaska, mixed stands of hemlock and spruce are regarded as the climax stand type, with Sitka spruce regenerating on mineral soil mixtures exposed by windthrow and other disturbance, and hemlock seeding in on organic substrates (Harris, 1990; Deal et al., 1991; Peterson et al., 1997).

Sitka spruce is one of few conifer species that produce epicormic shoots along the stem. These shoots may originate from either dormant or adventitious buds (Stone and Stone, 1943) in response to light intensity (Isaac, 1940; Herman, 1964). Increasing exposure of stems to sunlight by thinning of stands will stimulate epicormic branching and affect the future quality of the trees (Farr and Harris, 1971).

#### **D.** Ecosystem dynamics

Many abiotic factors interact with Sitka spruce in natural and planted forests, and some may cause significant damage. Windthrow is probably the most serious damaging agent, particularly in plantations of Sitka spruce that are established in Great Britain where shallow rooting on unfavourable soils and exposure to strong winds results is risk of instability (Miller, 1986; Coutts and Philipson, 1987; Mason and Quine, 1995; Malcolm, 1997). Elsewhere in Europe, planted Sitka spruce has suffered significant wind damage, but has proven more wind-firm than other conifers such as *Picea abies, Abies* spp. and *Pinus sylvestris* in France (de Champs et al., 1983; Touzet, 1983), Denmark (Neckelmann, 1981) and Norway (Lohmander and Helles, 1987). In North America, Sitka spruce is considered less wind-resistant than *Pseudotsuga menziesii* and *Thuja plicata*, but more-so than *Tsuga heterophylla* and *Abies amabilis* (Minore, 1979).

While Sitka spruce is among the least fire-resistant species in coastal forests, wild fires are not a major cause of damage within the native range (Minore, 1979; Agee, 1990). On the other hand, Sitka spruce regeneration benefits rather more from slash burning than several of its conifer associates (Hawkes et al., 1990; Otchere-Boateng and Herring, 1990). Frost heaving can cause severe damage, particularly to container seedlings planted on finer-textured soils (Shaw et al., 1987; Goulet, 1995). Autumn frost is a particular problem in Great Britain, where faster-growing southern provenances are particularly susceptible (Redfern and Cannell, 1982; Lines 1987b; Nicoll et al., 1996).

In the following table, other species interactions with Sitka Spruce are shown.

Insects	
Common name	Agent
White pine weevil [Johnson, 1965; McMullen, 1976; Alfaro, 1982; Martineau, 1984; de Groot, 1985; Wallace and Sullivan, 1985; Hulme, 1986, 1987; McMullen et al,. 1987; Alfaro, 1989a,b; Hulme and Harris, 1989; McLean, 1989; Alfaro and Omule, 1990; Alfaro and Ying, 1990; Warkentin et al., 1992; Fraser and Heppner, 1993; Alfaro, 1994; Fraser and Szeto, 1994; Hulme, 1994; Sahota et al., 1994; Spittlehouse et al., 1994; Tomlin and Borden, 1994; Alfaro et al., 1995; Hulme, 1995; Alfaro, 1996a,b; de Groot and Zylstra, 1996; Tomlin et al., 1996; and, Tomlin and Borden, 1997a,b: ]	<i>Pissodes strobi;</i> The most serious economic insect pest of Sitka spruce in North America. Larvae tunnel down the inner bark of the shoot, killing the leaders. Not yet a pest where Sitka spruce is planted in Europe.
Green spruce aphid [Powell and Parry, 1976; Carter, 1977; Dixon, 1977; Koot, 1983; Evans, 1987; Nichols, 1987; Carter, 1989; Sutherland et al., 1989; Finck et al., 1990; Seaby and Mowat, 1993; Straw, 1995; Schwenke, 1972]	<i>Elatobium abietinum;</i> a sap sucking insect, can result in mortality at high infestations levels

Table 2 - Species	Interactions w	ith Sitka Spruce
-------------------	----------------	------------------

Table 2 -continued

Bark beetles (Scolytidae) Spruce beetle Great spruce bark beetle [Bejer-Petersen, 1976; Lemperiere and Bailley, 1986; Fielding et al., 1991; Kirkeby-Thomsen, 1992; Rose et al., 1994, and Reynolds and Holsten, 1996]	
---	--

# Fungi

Disease	Agent
Annosus root rot [Pratt, 1979a, b; and Morrison et al., 1986]	<i>Heterobasidoion annosum;</i> causes butt-rot and can lower yield and quality
Armillaria root rot [Boullard and Gaudray, 1975; Redfern, 1978; and Morrison, 1981]	Armillaria mellea complex; may kill younger trees
Laminated root rot [Nelson and Sturrock, 1993; and Thies and Sturrock, 1995]	<i>Phellinus weirii;</i> butt decay that may kill younger trees
Rhizinia root rot [Phillips and Young, 1976; Gregory and Redfern, 1987; and Callan, 1993]	<i>Rhizinia undulata;</i> can affect young seedlings and pole sized trees
For other rust fungi, stem decay, nursery moulds and diseases of seed and cones see: [Gregory and Redfern, 1987; Sutherland et al., 1987, 1989 and Sutherland and Hunt, 1990]	

# Animals

Common name	Species name
Sitka spruce stands provide cover for many	
species of fish (salmon and trout species),	
mammals and birds	
[Hartman and Brown, 1988; and Staines et al., 1987]	
Black-tailed deer	Odocoileus hemionus columbianus; heavy
[Sullivan et al,. 1990]	numbers may cause browsing damage
Red deer	Cervus elaphus
Sika deer	C. nippon
Roe deer	Capreolus caprelous
Fallow deer	Dama dama
[Welch et al., 1987, 1991, 1992; Hannan and	All may cause damage by bark stripping and
Whelan, 1989 and de Jong et al., 1995]	browsing
Porcupine	Erethizon dorsatum; may feed cause slight
[Sullivan et al., 1986]	damage
Red squirrel	Tamiasciurus hudsonicus; damages shoots in
[Syme, 1985]	removing cones
Sand anting hinds	Many bird species commonly eat quantities of
Seed-eating birds	seed, as well as insects associated with Sitka
	spruce.

#### E. Symbiotic Relationships - Mycorrhizae

Relatively little research has been done on mycorrhizas of Sitka spruce, although results from forest trials show that inoculation with selected mycorrhizal fungi can give significant early growth effects (Walker, 1987). For example, seedlings inoculated with E-strain fungi, the dominant mycorrhizal fungi of nurseries, were smaller than those inoculated with either *Thelephora terrestris* or *Laccaria laccata* (Thomas and Jackson, 1983). The dominant mycorrhizal fungus in the nursery, the 'E-strain', decreases in frequency with age after planting out. Some mycorrhizal types are found at all forest sites in Britain: of these types, *Thelephora terrestris* has been found on all age classes of Sitka spruce. Other mycorrhizal species recorded on Sitka spruce include *Amanita rubescens, Laccaria amethystea, Lactarius hepaticus, L. tabidus, L. turpis* and *Russula ochroleuca* (Thomas et al., 1983). The successions of fruit bodies of mycorrhizal fungi under differently aged British plantations of Sitka spruce were determined to be *Laccaria/Paxillus-Inocybe-Cortinarius-Lactarius* (Dighton et al., 1986).

Eighty-four potentially mycorrhizal macrofungi have been recorded with Sitka spruce in Scotland. They derive primarily from the native flora of birch and pine and many are fungi with a wide host range. Specific mycorrhizal associates do not occur. The saprotrophic macrofungi are species that are common in a range of vegetation types (Alexander and Watling, 1987). In nurseries in the Irish Republic, *Piceirhiza horti-inflata* was the most frequent mycorrhizal association during the first year of growth but appeared to be replaced by *Hebeloma* sp. and *Amphinema byssoides* in 2-year-old seedlings. There was a greater diversity of mycorrhizas on container-grown seedlings, which included *Thelephora terrestris*, *Hebeloma* sp. and *Piceirhiza guttata* (Grogan et al., 1994). Sitka spruce trees in a plantation established in Normandy in 1956 were affected by *Armillaria mellea* root rot and it is suggested that the formation of mycorrhizae on *P. sitchensis* in France (where the tree is an exotic) is in some way incomplete and affords inadequate protection against *A. mellea* (Gaudray, 1973).

The ability of six ectomycorrhizal fungi (*Thelephora terrestris, Hebeloma crustuliniforme* strains Siv and 81a, *Paxillus involutus, Laccaria laccata* and *Lactarius rufus*) to form mycorrhizas on plantlets of Sitka spruce derived from somatic embryos was investigated by Sasa and Krogstrup (1991). Mycorrhizal synthesis was achieved only on the oldest plantlets during the third week after inoculation. The rate and development of mycorrhizal formation varied according to the fungal species, with infection by *T. terrestris* the highest (92% of the total number of root tips), and *Lactarius rufus* failing to form any mycorrhizas.

#### SECTION VII – DOMESTICATION

In 1930, Sitka spruce seedlings were among those planted in British Columbia's first reforestation project in the Fraser River Valley, near Vancouver (Young, 1989). While previously planted at a level of about 10 million seedlings per year in British Columbia, Sitka spruce has been all but eliminated from reforestation programs in North America, due to damage from the white pine weevil (King et al., 1998). Today, less than 2 million seedlings are planted each year, primarily on cool, coastal areas of the Queen Charlotte Islands. Meanwhile, Sitka spruce is the backbone of plantation forestry in Great Britain, accounting for about 70% of the seedlings planted (Malcolm, 1997), and is a commonly planted species in other European countries such as France and Denmark (Hermann, 1987). In spite of the good growth potential of Sitka spruce in the former Federal Republic of Germany, planting has been drastically reduced due to frost damage, drought and storm damage, and foraging by deer (Kleinschmit, 1978).

#### A. Deployment of reforestation materials

While Sitka spruce planting stock has traditionally been produced in bare root nurseries as 2+0 seedlings or 1+1 transplants, an increasing proportion is now produced in containerised growing systems, particularly in North America (Daniels and Simpson, 1990; Van Eerden and Gates, 1990; Aldhous and Mason, 1994). A variety of containers are used and stock is raised in both heated and unheated greenhouse structures. Cultural techniques have become highly sophisticated, ensuring that high-quality planting stock can be produced reliably and efficiently.

Sitka spruce planting stock can also be produced by means of vegetative propagation. Practical propagation systems have been developed (Kleinschmidt, 1992). Juvenile cuttings are easily rooted to produce planting stock as "stecklings" (Mason, 1984, 1992; John and Mason, 1987; Mason and Keenleyside, 1987) whose performance after planting is comparable to that of conventional transplant stock (Roulund, 1978; Roulund and Bergstedt, 1982; Baldwin and Mason, 1986; Mason et al., 1989). While steckling planting stock has been actively promoted in Great Britain, higher nursery production costs have kept annual production to a few million (Mason, 1991, 1992; Mason and Sharpe, 1992). Despite the higher production costs for steckling stock, the ability to bulk-up (vegetatively multiply) scarce seed sources and tested crosses between selected individuals is expected to more than compensate by realising potential genetic gains earlier (Gill, 1983; Mason and Gill, 1986; Mason and Harper, 1987; Lee, 1992).

Techniques for the initiation and regeneration of somatic embryos are available (Krogstrup et al., 1988), and embryogenic lines can be successfully regenerated after cryostorage (Find et al., 1993; Kristensen et al., 1994), making it possible to maintain genotypes in a completely juvenile condition during clonal testing. Sitka spruce plantlets derived from tissue culture propagation systems are also being automated further through the application of bioreactor technology (Moorhouse et al., 1996).

Sitka spruce has been established by direct seeding on an experimental basis, where it has been shown that the seedlings produce a much smaller amount of adventitious roots, compared with bare root

transplants (Coutts et al., 1990). However, direct seeding has not been used operationally as a regeneration technique for Sitka spruce. Its use in British Columbia is considered a poor option, due to the very slow growth of germinants, which predisposes them to drought and competition (Mitchell et al, 1990).

#### **B.** Provenance transfer

Within the native range, plantations established on sites with a strong maritime climate will be faster growing if seeds are transferred from more southerly latitudes. Conversely, transfers of seed from coastal origins to planting sites further inland involve higher risk (Lester et al., 1990; Ying, 1990).

Sitka spruce seedlots from British Columbia have also been certified under the OECD scheme for sale in Europe (Pollard and Portlock, 1990; Portlock, 1996). In Britain, southern provenances (below 47°N latitude) grow fastest, but are susceptible to spring and autumn frosts (Lines, 1987a, b), although clonal testing has demonstrated substantial variation in frost hardiness within provenances and potential for selecting southern genotypes with low risk of frost damage (Nicoll et al., 1996). Material from the Queen Charlotte Islands is generally recommended over much of Britain, although origins further south in Washington are better for south-west England, Wales, and parts of west Scotland (Fletcher, 1992). In the north of Germany, provenances from Washington are recommended, while fast-growing sources from Oregon are deemed to be too susceptible to frost damage (Stratmann and Tegeler, 1987). Provenances have been recommended for use in France, where plots have been established at four locations to demonstrate seed source differences (Bastien and Lemoine, 1986; François, 1986; Steinmetz, 1986). In Denmark, naturalised seed sources of the second and subsequent generations have grown faster and shown better adaptation than trees from seed imported directly from North America ,Nielsen 1994). In Germany, provenances from British Columbia (Canada) are also recommended.

#### **SECTION VIII – SUMMARY**

Sitka spruce is an economically important species of the north temperate coastal rain forest of western North America. While not as commercially important as other conifers within its native range, it is a keystone species in some of the most productive ecosystems in North America. Sitka spruce is now widely planted in North Europe, where it forms the backbone of plantation forestry and is of enormous economic value in some regions. It is closely related to the other North American "white" spruces, *Picea glauca* and *P. englemannii*. As an outcrossing, wind-pollinated species and prolific seed producer, it can transfer its genes rapidly to neighbouring populations and to other related spruces.

Sitka spruce exhibits clinal variation for many growth traits, associated with latitude, elevation, and distance from the coast. Population differences are also demonstrated for resistance to insect attack. While there is great variation among populations, more than half of the genetic variation in many growth traits is found among individuals within populations. Heritabilities for growth and quality traits are sufficiently high to expect substantial genetic gain from conventional recurrent-selection breeding programs. The species is readily propagated by rooted cuttings, offering potential to capture non-additive genetic variance and to accelerate the pace of genetic improvement. Statistically significant genotype-environment interactions have been observed, but broadly adapted individuals are rather common.

The distribution of Sitka spruce is limited to an area of maritime climate with abundant moisture. It may occur as pure stands, particularly on exposed coastal sites, but more commonly occurs in mixtures with western hemlock. While Sitka spruce is tolerant to shade and may occur in climax forest types, it is dependent on disturbance for regeneration and can be an aggressive pioneer in earlier stages of succession. The white pine weevil is by far the most serious threat to stands in North America, killing the leader and seriously affecting growth and merchantability. While the weevil does not affect planted stands in Europe, the green spruce aphid, various species of deer, and windthrow can cause significant damage.

Sitka spruce is well suited to artificial regeneration. While constituting a minor component of the reforestation effort within its native range, Sitka spruce plantation programs are well developed in some parts of Europe. Genetically improved materials from local seed orchards now constitute a significant portion of deployed planting stock. While most Sitka spruce reforestation is currently based on seed propagation, vegetative propagation techniques for cuttings and regeneration of somatic embryos are well advanced, making it a logical target for implementation of transgenic biotechnologies and the use of cloning in both breeding and deployment strategies.

#### **SECTION IX – REFERENCES**

- Adam, G.A. and Berg, S. 1996. Mechanized respacing naturally regenerated Sitka spruce in Great Britain. *In* Site preparation and stand treatment - impact on biology, economy and labour. Proceedings of S3.02-00 technical sessions during IUFRO XX World Congress 1995, held in Tampere, Finland. Selected papers, SkogsForsk (Forestry Research Institute of Sweden), Uppsala, Sweden. pp. 122-129.
- Agee, J.K. 1990. The historical role of fire in Pacific Northwest forests. *In* Natural and prescribed fire in Pacific Northwest forests. *Edited by* J.D. Walstad, S.R. Radosevich and D.V. Sandberg. Oregon State University Press, Corvallis, OR. pp. 25-38.
- Aldhous, J.R. and Mason, W.L. 1994. Forest nursery practice. Forestry Commission Bulletin No. 111, UK Forestry Commission, HMSO, London, UK.
- Alexander, I. and Watling, R. 1987. Macrofungi of Sitka spruce in Scotland. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93: 107-115.
- Alfaro, R.I. 1982. Fifty year-old Sitka spruce plantations with a history of intense weevil attack. J. Entomol. Soc. B.C. 79: 62-65.
- Alfaro, R.I. 1989a. Probability of damage to Sitka spruce by the Sitka spruce weevil, *Pissodes strobi*. J. Entomol. Soc. B.C. 86: 48-54.
- Alfaro, R.I. 1989b. Stem defects in Sitka spruce induced by Sitka spruce weevil, *Pissodes strobi* (Peck.). *In* Insects affecting reforestation: biology and damage. Proceedings of a Meeting of the IUFRO Working Group on Insects Affecting Reforestation (S2.07-03), held under the auspices of the 18th International Congress of Entomology, 3-9 July 1988, Vancouver, BC. *Edited by* R.I. Alfaro and S.G. Glover. Forestry Canada, Pacific and Yukon Region, Victoria, Canada. pp. 177-185.
- Alfaro, R.I. 1994. The white pine weevil in British Columbia. In The white pine weevil: biology, damage and management. Proceedings of a symposium held January 19-21, 1994 in Richmond, British Columbia. *Edited by* R.I. Alfaro, G. Kiss and R.G. Fraser. FRDA Report No. 226, BC Ministry of Forests and Lands, Research Branch, Victoria, BC. pp. 7-22.
- Alfaro, R.I. 1996a. Feeding and oviposition preferences of white pine weevil (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) on resistant and susceptible Sitka spruce clones in laboratory bioassays. Environ. Entomol. 25: 1012-1019.
- Alfaro, R.I. 1996b. Role of genetic resistance in managing ecosystems susceptible to white pine weevil. For. Chron. 72: 374-380.
- Alfaro, R.I. and Omule, S.A.Y. 1990. The effect of spacing on Sitka spruce weevil damage to Sitka spruce. Can. J. For. Res. 20: 179-184.

- Alfaro, R.I. and Ying, C.C. 1990. Levels of Sitka spruce weevil, *Pissodes strobi* (Peck), damage among Sitka spruce provenances and families near Sayward, British Columbia. Can. Ent. 122: 607-615.
- Alfaro, R.I., Borden, J.H., Fraser, R.G. and, Yanchuk, A. 1995. The white pine weevil in British Columbia: basis for an integrated pest management system. For. Chron. 71: 66-73.
- Alfaro, R.I., Hulme, M. and, Ying, C. 1993. Variation in attack by Sitka spruce weevil, *Pissodes strobi* (Peck), within a resistant provenance of Sitka spruce. J. Entomol. Soc. B.C. 90: 24-30.
- Baldwin, E. and Mason, W.L. 1986. An early trial of Sitka spruce cuttings. Scottish For. 40: 176-184.
- Bastien, J.C. and Lemoine, M. 1986. Les plantations comparatives. Rev. For. Fr. 38(Amélioration génétique des arbres forestiers): 101-102.
- Bejer-Petersen, B. 1976. Dendroctonus micans Kug. in Denmark: the situation 25 years after a 'catastrophe'. Z. Pflanzenkrankheiten und Pflanzenschutz 83: 16-21.
- Birot, Y. and Christophe, C. 1983. Genetic structures and expected genetic gains from multitrait selection in wild populations of Douglas fir and Sitka spruce. I. Genetic variation between and within populations. Silvae Genet. 32: 141-151.
- Bornebusch, C.H. 1946. Sitka-hvidgran-bastarden. Dansk Skovforen. Tidsskr. 31: 42-46.
- Boullard, B. and Gaudray, D. 1975. À propos d'une attaque de résineux hauts-normands par l'Armillaire couleur de miel (Armillariella mellea (Fr.) Karsten) --- ou l'écologie au service de la phytopathologie. Botaniste, 57: 119-151.
- Brazier, J.D. 1987. Man's use of Sitka spruce. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 213-221.
- Burley, J. 1965b. Karotype analysis of Sitka spruce, *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Silvae Genet. 14: 127-132.
- Burley, J.F. 1965a. Genetic variation in *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.: a literature review. Commonw. For. Rev. 44: 47-58.
- Cahalan, C.M. 1981. Provenance and clonal variation in growth, branching and phenology in *Picea* sitchensis and *Pinus contorta*. Silvae Genet. 30: 40-46.
- Callan, B.E. 1993. Rhizina root rot of conifers. Pest Leaflet No. 56, Forestry Canada, Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, BC.
- Campbell, R.K., Pawuk, W.A. and, Harris, A.S. 1989. Microgeographic genetic variation of Sitka spruce in southeastern Alaska. Can. J. For. Res. 19: 1004-1013.
- Cannell, M.G.R. 1974. Production of branches and foliage by young trees of *Pinus contorta* and *Picea sitchensis*: provenance differences and their simulation. J. Appl. Ecol. 11: 1091-1115.
- Cannell, M.G.R. and Bowler, K.C. 1978. Spatial arrangement of lateral buds at the time that they form on leaders of *Picea* and *Larix*. Can. J. For. Res. 8: 129-137.

- Cannell, M.G.R. and Johnstone, R.C.B. 1978. Free or lammas growth and progeny performance in *Picea sitchensis*. Silvae Genet. 27: 248-254.
- Cannell, M.G.R. and Milne, R. 1995. Carbon pools and sequestration in forest ecosystems in Britain. Forestry, 68(Special issue: Forestry Research Coordination Committee Conference 'Greenhouse gas balance in forestry' held 9 November 1994): 361-378.
- Cannell, M.G.R. and Willet, S.C. 1976. Shoot growth phenology, dry matter distribution and root:shoot ratios of provenances of *Populus trichocarpa*, *Picea sitchensis* and *Pinus contorta* growing in Scotland. Silvae Genet. 25: 49-59.
- Cannell, M.G.R. and Willett, S.C. 1975. Rates and times at which needles are initiated in buds on differing provenances of *Pinus contorta* and *Picea sitchensis* in Scotland. Can. J. For. Res. 5: 367-380.
- Carter, C.I. 1977. Impact of green spruce aphid on growth: can a tree forget its past? Research and Development Paper No. 116, UK Forestry Commission.
- Carter, C.I. 1989. The 1989 outbreak of the green spruce aphid, *Elatobium abietinum*. Research Information Note 161, Research Division, UK Forestry Commission.
- Chaisurisri, K. and El-Kassaby, Y.A. 1994. Domestication and genetic diversity in Sitka spruce. *In* Proceedings: International symposium on genetic conservation and production of tropical forest tree seed, 14-16 June 1993, Chiang Mai, Thailand. *Edited by* R.M. Drysdale, S.E.T. John and A.C. Yapa. ASEAN-Canada Forest Tree Seed Centre, Saraburi, Thailand. pp. 144-153.
- Chaisurisri, K., Edwards, D.G.W. and, El-Kassaby, Y.A. 1992. Genetic control of seed size and germination in Sitka spruce. Silvae Genet. 41: 348-355.
- Chaisurisri, K., Mitton, J.B. and, El-Kassaby, Y.A. 1994. Variation in the mating system of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*): evidence for partial assortative mating. Amer. J. Bot. 81: 1410-1415.
- Christophe, C. and Birot, Y. 1983. Genetic structures and expected genetic gains from multitrait selection in wild populations of Douglas fir an (*sic*) Sitka spruce. II. Practical application of index selection on several populations. Silvae Genet. 32: 173-181.
- Coates, K.D., Haeussler, S., Lindeburgh, S., Pojar, R. and, Stock, A.J. 1994. Ecology and silviculture of interior spruce in British Columbia. FRDA Report 220, BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC.
- Cooper, W.S. 1931. The layering habit in Sitka spruce and the two western hemlocks. Bot. Gaz. 91: 441-451.
- Copes, D.L. and Beckwith, R.C. 1977. Isoenzyme identification of *Picea glauca*, *P. sitchensis*, and *P. lutzii*. Bot. Gaz. 138: 512-521.
- Costa e Silva, J., Nielsen, U.B. and, Roulund, H. 1994. Sitka spruce clonal performance with special reference to basic density: 23 years' results of a clonal trial. Silvae Genet. 43: 82-91.
- Cottrell, J.E. and White, I.M.S. 1995. The use of isozyme genetic markers to estimate the rate of outcrossing in a Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.) seed orchard in Scotland. New Forests 10: 111-122.

- Coutts, M.P. and Philipson, J.J. 1987. Structure and physiology of Sitka spruce roots. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 131-144.
- Coutts, M.P., Walker, C. and, Burnand, A.C. 1990. Effects of establishment method on root form of lodgepole pine and Sitka spruce and on the production of adventitious roots. Forestry, 63: 143-159.
- Critchfield, W.B. 1975. Interspecific hybridization in *Pinus*: a summary review. *In* Proceedings 14th Canadian Tree Improvement Association, Part 2, Symposium on interspecific hybridization in forest trees, Fredericton, NB, 28-30 August 1973. *Edited by* D.P. Fowler and C.W. Yeatman. Canadian Forestry Service, Ottawa, ON. pp. 99-105.
- Critchfield, W.B. 1984. Impact of the Pleistocene on the genetic structure of North American conifers. In Proceedings of the 8th North American Forest Biology Workshop, July 30 - August 1, 1984, Utah State University, Logan, USA. Edited by R.M. Lanner. Department of Forest Resources, Utah State University, Logan. pp. 70-118.
- Daniel, T.W., Helms, J.A. and, Baker, F.S. 1979. Principles of silviculture (2nd edition). McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.
- Daniels, T.G. and Simpson, D.G. 1990. Seedling production and processing: bareroot. *In* Regenerating British Columbia's forests. *Edited by* D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 206-225.
- Daubenmire, R. 1968. Some geographic variations in *Picea sitchensis* and their ecologic interpretation. Can. J. Bot. 46: 787-797.
- Daubenmire, R. 1974. Taxonomic and ecological relationships between *Picea glauca* and *Picea engelmannii*. Can. J. Bot. 52: 1545-1560.
- Day, K. 1984. Systematic differences in the population density of green spruce aphid, *Elatobium abietinum* in a provenance trial of Sitka spruce, *Picea sitchensis*. Ann. Appl. Biol. 105: 405-412.
- de Champs, J., Ferron, J.L., Michaud, D. and, Savatier, N. 1983. Leçons à tirer de la tempête des 6-8 novembre 1982. *In* Annales de Recherches Sylvicoles, AFOCEL, France, 1982. Association Forêt-Cellulose, Paris, France. pp. 4-101.
- de Groot, P. 1985. Chemical control of insect pests of white pine. Proc. Ent. Soc. Ont. 116(Supplement: White pine symposium, Petawawa National Forestry Institute, 14 September 1984. *Edited by*: C.R. Sullivan, C.A. Plexman, R.D. Whitney, W.M. Stiell and D.R. Wallace.): 67-71.
- de Groot, P. and Zylstra, B.F. 1996. Control of white pine weevil in young plantations using a spring application of insecticides. Frontline, Technical Note No. 86, Canadian Forest Service, Great Lakes Forestry Centre, Sault Ste. Marie, ON.
- de Jong, C.B., Gill, R.M.A., van Wieren, S.E. and, Burlton, F.W.E. 1995. Diet selection by roe deer *Capreolus capreolus* in Kielder Forest in relation to plant cover. For. Ecol. Manage. 79(Special issue: Kielder - the ecology of a man-made spruce forest. Papers presented at a symposium held at the University of Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, 20-21 September 1994): 91-97.

- Deal, R.L. and Farr, W.A. 1994. Composition and development of conifer regeneration in thinned and unthinned natural stands of western hemlock and Sitka spruce in southeast Alaska. Can. J. For. Res. 24: 976-984.
- Deal, R.L., Oliver, C.D. and, Bormann, B.T. 1991. Reconstruction of mixed hemlock-spruce stands in coastal southeast Alaska. Can. J. For. Res. 21: 643-654.
- Deans, J.D., Mason, W.L. and, Harvey, F.J. 1992. Clonal differences in planting stock quality of Sitka spruce. For. Ecol. Manage. 49: 101-107.
- Deleporte, P. 1984. Épicéa de Sitka: resultats et méthodologie d'une sélection multicritère. *In* Annales de Recherches Sylvicoles, AFOCEL, 1983. Association Forêt-Cellulose, Paris, France. pp. 282-337.
- Deleporte, P. and Roman-Amat, B. 1986. Épicéa de Sitka, *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Rev. For. Fr. 38(Amélioration génétique des arbres forestiers): 149-152.
- Dighton, J., Poskitt, J.M. and, Howard, D.M. 1986. Changes in occurrence of basidiomycete fruit bodies during forest stand development: with specific reference to mycorrhizal species. Transactions of the British Mycological Society 87(1): 163-171.
- Di-Giovanni, F. and Kevan, P.G. 1991. Factors affecting pollen dynamics and its importance to pollen contamination: a review. Can. J. For. Res. 21: 1155-1170.
- Di-Giovanni, F., Kevan, P.G., and Arnold, J. 1996. Lower planetary boundary layer profiles of atmospheric conifer pollen above a seed orchard in northern Ontario, Canada. For. Ecol. Manage. 83: 87-97.
- Dixon, A.F.G. 1977. Aphid ecology: life-cycles, polymorphism, and population regulation. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 8: 329-353.
- Edwards, D.G.W. and El-Kassaby, Y.A. 1993. Ex situ conservation of forest biodiversity in British Columbia. In Proceedings of the Forest Ecosystem Dynamics Workshop, February 10-11, 1993. Edited by V. Marshall. FRDA Report No. 210, Forestry Canada and B.C. Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC. pp. 65-67.
- Eis, S. and Craigdallie, D. 1981. Reproduction of conifers. A handbook for cone crops assessment. Information Report BC-X-219, Canadian Forestry Service, Pacific Forest Research Centre, Victoria, BC.
- Eisenhut, G. 1961. Untersuchungen über die Morphologie und Ökologie der Pollenkörner heimischer und fremdländischer Waldbäume. Forstwiss. Forsch. 15: 1-68.
- El-Kassaby, Y.A. and, Reynolds, S. 1990. Reproductive phenology, parental balance, and supplemental mass pollination in a Sitka spruce seed orchard. For. Ecol. Manage. 31: 45-54.
- Eriksson, G., Namkoong, G. and, Roberds, J.H. 1993. Dynamic gene conservation for uncertain futures. For. Ecol. Manage. 62: 15-37.
- Evans, H.F. 1987. Sitka spruce insects: past, present and future. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. Edited by: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 157-167.

Falkenhagen, E.R. 1977. Genetic variation in 38 provenances of Sitka spruce. Silvae Genet. 26: 67-75.

- Falkenhagen, E.R. 1978. Parent tree variation in Sitka spruce provenances, an example of fine geographic variation. Silvae Genet. 27: 24-29.
- Falkenhagen, E.R. and Nash, S.W. 1978. Multivariate classification in provenance research. A comparison of two statistical techniques. Silvae Genet. 27: 14-23.
- Farr, W.A. and Harris, A.S. 1971. Partial cutting of western hemlock and Sitka spruce in southeast Alaska. Research Paper PNW-124, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- Farrar, J.L. 1995. Trees in Canada. Fitzhenry & Whiteside/Canadian Forest Service, Markham and Ottawa, ON.
- Faulkner, R. 1987. Genetics and breeding of Sitka spruce. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 October 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 41-50.
- Fielding, N.J., Evans, H.F., Williams, J.M. and, Evans, B. 1991. Distribution and spread of the great European spruce bark beetle, *Dendroctonus micans*, in Britain - 1982 to 1989. Forestry, 64: 345-358.
- Finck, K.E., Shrimpton, G.M. and, Summers, D.W. 1990. Insect pests in reforestation. *In* Regenerating British Columbia's forests. *Edited by* D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 279-301.
- Find, J.I., Floto, F., Krogstrup, P., Moller, J.D., Norgaard, J.V. and, Kristensen, M.M.H. 1993. Cryopreservation of an embryogenic suspension culture of *Picea sitchensis* and subsequent plant regeneration. Scand. J. For. Res. 8: 156-162.
- Fletcher, A.M. 1992. Breeding improved Sitka spruce. In Super Sitka for the 90s. Proceedings of a meeting held in Elgin, Scotland, 2-4 October 1990, organized by the UK Forestry Commission Research Division. Edited by D.A. Rook. Forestry Commission Bulletin 103, HMSO, London, UK. pp. 11-24.
- Fletcher, A.M. and Faulkner, R. 1972. A plan for the improvement of Sitka spruce by selection and breeding. Research and Development Paper No. 85, Forestry Commission, London, UK.
- Florin, R. 1963. The distribution of conifer and taxad genera in time and space. Acta Horti Bergiani 20: 121-312.
- Forrest, G.I. 1975a. Polyphenol variation in Sitka spruce. Can. J. For. Res. 5: 26-37.
- Forrest, G.I. 1975b. Variation in polyphenol content within and between Sitka spruce provenances at different sites. Can. J. For. Res. 5: 46-54.
- Forrest, G.I. 1980. Geographic variation in the monoterpene composition of Sitka spruce cortical oleoresin. Can. J. For. Res. 10: 458-463.

- Forrest, G.I. and Samuel, C.J.A. 1988. Monoterpene analysis of a diallel cross in Sitka spruce. Silvae Genet. 37: 100-104.
- Fowler, D.P. 1983. The hybrid black X Sitka spruce, implications to phylogeny of the genus *Picea*. Can. J. For. Res. 13: 108-115.
- Fowler, D.P. 1987. The hybrid white X Sitka spruce: species crossability. Can. J. For. Res. 17: 413-417.
- Fowler, D.P. and Roche, L. 1977. Genetics of Engelmann spruce. Research Paper WO-30, USDA Forest Service, Washington, D.C.
- Fox, D.P. 1987. The chromosomes of *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. and its relatives. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 51-59.
- François, J.M. 1986. Pour le choix des meilleures provenances: un réseau de démonstration à l'intention des sylviculteurs. Forêt Entreprise 38: 33-45.
- Fraser, R.G. and Heppner, D.G. 1993. Control of white pine weevil, *Pissodes strobi*, on Sitka spruce using implants containing systemic insecticide. For. Chron. 69: 600-603.
- Fraser, R.G. and Szeto, S. 1994. Insecticides applied with Ezject will protect young Sitka spruce plantations from white pine weevil attack. *In* The white pine weevil: biology, damage and management. Proceedings of a symposium held January 19-21, 1994 in Richmond, British Columbia. *Edited by* R.I. Alfaro, G. Kiss and R.G. Fraser. FRDA Report No. 226, BC Ministry of Forests and Lands, Research Branch, Victoria, BC. pp. 239-247.
- Gaudray, D. 1973. Observations on the mycorrhizae of Sitka Spruce and the role they can play during an attack by Armillaria mellea. Comptes Rendus des Seances de la Societe de Biologie et de ses Filiales 167(6-7): 1023-1026.
- Geburek, T. and Krusche, D. 1985. Wachstum von Hybriden zwischen *Picea omorika* und *P. sitchensis* im Vergleich zu den Elternarten. Allg. For. Jagdzeitg. 156: 47-54.
- Gill, J.G.S. 1983. Comparisons of production costs and genetic benefits of transplants and rooted cuttings of *Picea sitchensis*. Forestry, 56: 61-73.
- Gordon, A.G., Salt, G.A. and, Brown, R.M. 1976. Effect of pre-sowing moist-chilling treatments on seedbed emergence of Sitka spruce seed infected by *Geniculodendron pyriforme* Salt. Forestry, 49: 143-151.
- Gosling, P.G. 1988. The effect of moist chilling on the subsequent germination of some temperate conifer seeds over a range of temperatures. J. Seed Tech. 12: 90-98.
- Gosling, P.G. and Rigg, P. 1990. The effect of moisture content and prechill duration on the efficiency of dormancy breakage in Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) seed. Seed Sci. & Technol. 18: 337-343.
- Goulet, F. 1995. Frost heaving of forest tree seedlings: a review. New Forests 9: 67-94.

Gregory, P.H. 1973. The microbiology of the atmosphere (2nd edition). Leonard Hill, Aylesbury, UK.

- Gregory, S.C. and Redfern, D.B. 1987. The pathology of Sitka spruce in northern Britain. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 145-156.
- Griffiths, M. 1994. Index of Garden Plants -- The New Royal Horticultural Society Dictionary. Timber Press, Portland, OR.
- Grogan, H.M., O'-Neill, J.J.M. and, Mitchell, D.T. 1994. Mycorrhizal associations of Sitka-spruce seedlings propagated in Irish tree nurseries. European Journal of Forest Pathology 24(6-7): 335-344.
- Grossnickle, S.C., Sutton, B.C.S. and, Holcomb, R.W. 1996b. Genetics and seedling biology of Sitka spruce hybrids. FRDA Memo 232, BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC.
- Grossnickle, S.C., Sutton, B.C.S., Folk, R.S. and, Gawley, R.J. 1996a. Relationship between nuclear DNA markers and physiological parameters in Sitka X interior spruce populations. Tree Physiol. 16: 547-555.
- Guyon, A. 1995. Peuplements forestiers littoraux de Bretagne: description et gestion. Rev. For. Fr. 47: 255-262.
- Hanley, T.A. and Brady, W.W. 1997. Understory species composition and production in old-growth western hemlock-Sitka spruce forests of southeastern Alaska. Can. J. Bot. 75: 574-580.
- Hanley, T.A. and Hoel, T. 1996. Species composition of old-growth and riparian Sitka spruce western hemlock forests in southeastern Alaska. Can. J. For. Res. 26: 1703-1708.
- Hannan, M.J. and Whelan, J. 1989. Deer and habitat relations in managed forests. *In* Mammals as pests. Papers presented at a symposium of the Mammal Society, London, November 1987. *Edited by* R.J. Putman. Chapman and Hall Ltd, London, UK. pp. 116-127.
- Hanover, J.W. and Wilkinson, R.C. 1970. Chemical evidence for introgressive hybridization in *Picea*. Silvae Genet. 19: 17-22.
- Harris, A.S. 1967. Natural reforestation on a mile-square clearcut in southwest Alaska. Research Paper PNW-52, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, Portland, OR.
- Harris, A.S. 1969. Ripening and dispersal of a bumper western hemlock-Sitka spruce seed crop in southeastern Alaska. Research Note PNW-105, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, Portland, OR.
- Harris, A.S. 1978. Distribution, genetics, and silvical characteristics of Sitka spruce. *In* Proceedings of the IUFRO Joint Meeting of Working Parties, Vancouver, Canada 1978. Vol. 1. B.C. Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC. pp. 95-122.
- Harris, A.S. 1990. Picea sitchensis (Bong.) Carr. Sitka spruce. In Silvics of North America. Vol. 1, Conifers. Edited by R.M. Burns and B.H. Honkala. Agriculture Handbook 654, Forest Service, USDA, Washington, DC. pp. 260-267.

- Harris, A.S. and Johnson, D.L. 1983. Western hemlock-Sitka spruce. *In* Silvicultural systems for the major forest types of the United States. *Edited by* R.M. Burns. Agricultural Handbook 445, USDA Forest Service, Washington, D.C. pp. 5-8.
- Hartman, G.F. and Brown, T.G. 1988. Forestry-fisheries planning considerations on coastal floodplains. For. Chron. 64: 47-51.
- Hawkes, B.C., Feller, M.C. and, Meehan, D. 1990. Site preparation: fire. *In* Regenerating British Columbia's forests. *Edited by* D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 131-149.
- Herman, F.R. 1964. Epicormic branching of Sitka spruce. Research Paper PNW-18, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- Hermann, R.K. 1987. North American tree species in Europe: transplanted species offer good growth potential on suitable sites. J. For. 85(12): 27-32.
- Hulme, M.A. 1994. The potential of *Allodorus crassigaster* for the biological control of *Pissodes strobi*. *In* The white pine weevil: biology, damage and management. Proceedings of a symposium held January 19-21, 1994 in Richmond, British Columbia. *Edited by* R.I. Alfaro, G. Kiss and R.G. Fraser. FRDA Report No. 226, BC Ministry of Forests and Lands, Research Branch, Victoria, BC. pp. 294-300.
- Hulme, M.A. 1995. Resistance by translocated Sitka spruce to damage by *Pissodes strobi* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) related to tree phenology. J. Econ. Entomol. 88: 1525-1530.
- Hulme, M.A. and Harris, J.W.E. 1989. How Lonchaea corticis Taylor may impact broods of Pissodes strobi (Peck) in Picea sitchensis (Bong.) Carr. In Insects affecting reforestation: biology and damage. Proceedings of a Meeting of the IUFRO Working Group on Insects Affecting Reforestation (S2.07-03), held under the auspices of the 18th International Congress of Entomology, 3-9 July 1988, Vancouver, BC. Edited by R.I. Alfaro and S.G. Glover. Forestry Canada, Pacific and Yukon Region, Victoria, Canada. pp. 161-166.
- Hulme, M.A., Dawson, A.F. and, Harris, J.W.E. 1986. Exploiting cold-hardiness to separate *Pissodes strobi* (Peck) (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) from associated insects in leaders of *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Can. Ent. 118: 1115-1122.
- Hulme, M.A., Harris, J.W.E. and, Dawson, A.F. 1987. Exploiting adult girth to separate *Pissodes strobi* (Peck) (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) from associated insects in leaders of *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Can. Ent. 119: 751-753.
- Isaac, L.A. 1940. "Water sprouts" on Sitka spruce. *In* Research Note 31, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station. pp. 6-7.
- Jeffers, R.M. 1971. Research at the Institute of Forest Genetics. Res. Pap. NC-67, USDA For. Serv. North Central For. Exp. Sta., St. Paul, MN.
- Jensen, J.S., Kjær, E.D. and, Roulund, H. 1996. A progeny trial with domesticated *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) in Denmark. Silvae Genet. 45: 85-90.

- Jinks, R.L. and Jones, S.K. 1996. The effect of seed pretreatment and sowing date on the nursery emergence of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.) seedlings. Forestry, 69: 335-345.
- John, A. and Mason, B. 1987. Vegetative propagation of Sitka spruce. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. Edited by: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 197-203.
- Johnson, L.P.V. 1939. A descriptive list of natural and artificial interspecific hybrids in North American forest-tree genera. Can. J. Res. (Sec. C) 17: 411-444.
- Johnson, N.E. 1965. A test of 12 insecticides for the control of the Sitka spruce weevil, *Pissodes* sitchensis Hopkins. J. Econ. Entomol. 58: 572-574.
- Johnstone, R.C.B. and Samuel, C.J.A. 1978. The interaction between genotype and site: its influence on tree selection in programmes in Great Britain (Paper presented at the Eighth World Forestry Congress, Jakarta, Indonesia). Research and Development Paper 122, UK Forestry Commission, Edinburgh, UK.
- Jones, S.K. and Gosling, P.G. 1990. The successful redrying of imbibed, or imbibed plus prechilled Sitka spruce seeds. Seed Sci. & Technol. 18: 541-547.
- Jones, S.K. and Gosling, P.G. 1994. "Target moisture content" prechill overcomes the dormancy of temperate conifer seeds. New Forests 8: 309-321.
- Jones, S.K., Bergsten, U. and, Gosling, P.G. 1993. A comparison of 5°C and 15°C as dormancy breakage treatments for Sitka spruce seeds (*Picea sitchensis*). In Dormancy and barriers to germination: Proceedings of an international symposium of IUFRO Project Group P2.04-00 (Seed problems) Victoria, British Columbia, Canada, 23-26 April, 1991. Edited by D.G.W. Edwards. Canadian Forest Service - Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, BC. pp. 51-55.
- Kean, V.M., Fox, D.P. and, Faulkner, R. 1982. The accumulation mechanism of the supernumerary (B-) chromosome in *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. and the effect of this chromosome on male and female flowering. Silvae Genet. 31: 126-131.
- King, J.N. 1994. Delivering durable resistant Sitka spruce for plantations. *In* The white pine weevil: biology, damage and management. Proceedings of a symposium held January 19-21, 1994 in Richmond, British Columbia. *Edited by* R.I. Alfaro, G. Kiss and R.G. Fraser. FRDA Report No. 226, BC Ministry of Forests and Lands, Research Branch, Victoria, BC. pp. 134-149.
- King, J.N., Alfaro, R., Brown, G. and, Cartwright, C. 1998. Genetic and environmental dynamics of an artificial infestation of a Sitka spruce plantation with the white pine weevil. *In* Proceedings of the 25th Meeting of the Canadian Tree Improvement Association, Québec, QC, August 1977, Part 2. *Edited by* J.D. Simpson. Natural Resources Canada, Fredericton, NB. [Abstract in press]

Kirkeby-Thomsen, A. 1992. Dendroctonus micans i Danmark. Dansk Skovforen. Tidsskr. 77: 55-65.

Kiss, G.K. 1989. Engelmann X Sitka spruce hybrids in central British Columbia. Can. J. For. Res. 19: 1190-1193.

- Kleinschmidt, J. (1978): Sitka spruce in Germany. Proceedings of the IUFRO joint meeting of working parties. Vancouver, Canada 1978, S.183-191 (see Appendix I)
- Kleinschmidt, J. (1992): The use of spruce cuttings in plantations. Forestry Comission Bulletin 103: Super Sitka for the 90's. Ed. D. A. Rook (see Appendix I)
- Kleinschmidt,J. (1984): IUFRO Sitka spruce ten provenance experiment. Proceedings of the IUFRO Sitka Spruce Provenance Experiment. Edinburgh, Scotland 1984 (see Appendix I)
- Kobe, R.K. and Coates, K.D. 1997. Models of sapling mortality as a function of growth to characterize interspecific variation in shade tolerance of eight tree species of northwestern British Columbia. Can. J. For. Res. 27: 227-236.
- Koot, H.P. 1983. Spruce aphid in British Columbia. Forest Pest Leaflet FPL 16, Canadian Forestry Service, Pacific Forest Research Centre, Victoria, BC.
- Krajina, V.J. 1969. Ecology of forest trees in British Columbia. In Ecology of western North America. Vol. 1. Edited by V.J. Krajina. University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC. pp. 1-147.
- Kraus, J.F. and Lines, R. 1976. Patterns of shoot growth, growth cessation and bud set in a nursery test of Sitka spruce provenances. Scottish For. 30: 16-24.
- Kristensen, M.M.H., Find, J.I., Floto, F., Moller, J.D., Norgaard, J.V. and, Krogstrup, P. 1994. The origin and development of somatic embryos following cryopreservation of an embryogenic suspension culture of *Picea sitchensis*. Protoplasma, 182: 65-70.
- Krogstrup, P., Eriksen, E.N., Moller, J.D. and, Roulund, H. 1988. Somatic embryogenesis in Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.). Plant Cell Rep. 7: 594-597.
- Krüssmann, G. 1985. Manual of cultivated conifers (2nd edition). *Edited by* H.-D. Warda. Timber Press, Portland, OR. [Translated by M.E. Epp from the 1983 German edition]
- Langner, W. 1952. Die Forschungsstatte fur Forstgenetik und Forstpflanzenzuchtung in Schmalenbeck. Z. Weltforstwirtsch. 15: 15-18. [cited by Roche and Fowler 1975]
- Langner, W. 1959. Ergebnisse Einiger Hybridisierrungsversuche Zwischen *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. und *Picea omorika* (Pancic) Purkyne. Silvae Genet. 8: 138-143.
- Ledig, F.T. and Kitzmiller, J.H. 1992. Genetic strategies for reforestation in the face of global climate change. For. Ecol. Manage. 50: 153-169.
- Lee, S.J. 1992. Likely increases in volume and revenue from planting genetically improved Sitka spruce. In Super Sitka for the 90s. Proceedings of a meeting held in Elgin, Scotland, 2-4 October 1990, organized by the UK Forestry Commission Research Division. *Edited by* D.A. Rook. Forestry Commission Bulletin 103, HMSO, London, UK. pp. 61-74.
- Lemperiere, G. and Bailley, D. 1986. Limousin: observation sur les manifestations du dendroctone de l'épicéa. Forêts de France 290: 18-22.

- Lester, D. 1996. Gene conservation methods and an application in British Columbia. In Forest gene conservation - principles to practice. Workshop proceedings. Edited by G. McVey and C. Nielsen. Workshop proceedings WP-008, Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources, Southern Region Science & Technology Transfer Unit, Kemptville, ON. pp. 35-45.
- Lester, D.T., Ying, C.C. and, Konishi, J.D. 1990. Genetic control and improvement of planting stock. *In* Regenerating British Columbia's forests. *Edited by* D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 180-192.
- Li, H.L. 1953. Present distribution and habitats of the conifers and taxads. Evolution, 7: 245-261.
- Lindgren, D. and Lindgren, K. 1996. Long distance pollen transfer may make gene conservation difficult. *In* Conservation of forest genetic resources. Proceedings of Nordic Group for Forest Genetics and Tree Breeding Meeting in Estonia, June 3-7, 1996. *Edited by* M. Kurm and Y. Tamm. Estonia Agricultural University, Tartu. pp. 51-62.
- Lindgren, D., Paule, L., Shen, X.-H., Yazdani, R., Segerström, U., Wallin, J.-E. and, Lejdebro, M.L. 1995. Can viable pollen carry Scots pine genes over long distances? Grana, 34: 64-69.
- Lines, R. 1987a. Choice of seed origins for the main forest species in Britain. Forestry Commission Bulletin No. 66, UK Forestry Commission, London, UK.
- Lines, R. 1987b. Seed origin variation in Sitka spruce. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 October 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 25-39.
- Lines, R. and Mitchell, A.F. 1966. Differences in phenology of Sitka spruce provenances. *In* Report on research for year ended March 1965. UK Forestry Commission, London, UK. pp. 173-184.
- Little, E.L., Jr. 1953. A natural hybrid spruce in Alaska. J. For. 51: 745-747.
- Lohmander, P. and Helles, F. 1987. Windthrow probability as a function of stand characteristics and shelter. Scand. J. For. Res. 2: 227-238.
- Magnesen, S. 1986. Det internasjonale Sitkagran-proveniensforsoket pa Vestlandet. Rapport No. 1/86, Norsk Institutt for Skogforskning, Fana, Norway. [English summary]
- Mair, A.R. 1973. Dissemination of tree seed : Sitka spruce, western hemlock and Douglas fir. Scottish For. 27: 308-314.
- Malcolm, D.C. 1987. Some ecological aspects of Sitka spruce. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. Edited by: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 85-92.
- Malcolm, D.C. 1997. The silviculture of conifers in Great Britain. Forestry, 70: 293-307.
- Martineau, R. 1984. Insects harmful to forest trees. Forestry Technical Report 32, Multiscience Publications Ltd.

- Mason, W.L. 1984. Vegetative propagation of conifers using stem cuttings. I. Sitka spruce. Research Information Note 90, Forestry Commission, HMSO, London, UK.
- Mason, W.L. 1991. Commercial development of vegetative propagation of genetically improved Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.) in Great Britain. *In* Proceedings of the IUFRO Symposium on the Efficiency of Stand Establishment Operations. *Edited by* M.I. Menzies, G. Parrott and L.J. Whitehouse. FRI Bulletin No. 156, Forest Research Institute, Rotorua, NZ.
- Mason, W.L. 1992. Reducing the cost of Sitka spruce cuttings. *In* Super Sitka for the 90s. Proceedings of a meeting held in Elgin, Scotland, 2-4 October 1990, organized by the UK Forestry Commission Research Division. *Edited by* D.A. Rook. Forestry Commission Bulletin 103, HMSO, London, UK. pp. 25-41.
- Mason, W.L. and Gill, J.G.S. 1986. Vegetative propagation of conifers as a means of intensifying wood production in Britain. Forestry, 59: 155-172.
- Mason, W.L. and Harper, W.G.C. 1987. Forest use of improved Sitka spruce cuttings. Research Information Note 119/87/SILN, UK Forestry Commission, Edinburgh, UK.
- Mason, W.L. and Keenleyside, J.C. 1987. Propagating Sitka spruce under intermittent mist and other systems. Comb. Proc. Int. Plant Propagators' Soc. 37: 294-303.
- Mason, W.L. and Quine, C.P. 1995. Silvicultural possibilities for increasing structural diversity in British spruce forests: the case of Kielder Forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 79(Special issue: Kielder - the ecology of a man-made spruce forest. Papers presented at a symposium held at the University of Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, 20-21 September 1994): 13-28.
- Mason, W.L. and Sharpe, A.L. 1992. The establishment and silviculture of Sitka spruce cuttings. *In* Super Sitka for the 90s. Proceedings of a meeting held in Elgin, Scotland, 2-4 October 1990, organized by the UK Forestry Commission Research Division. *Edited by* D.A. Rook. Forestry Commission Bulletin 103, HMSO, London, UK. pp. 42-53.
- Mason, W.L., Biggin, P. and, McCavish, W.J. 1989. Early forest performance of Sitka spruce planting stock raised from cuttings. Research Information Note 143, UK Forestry Commission, HMSO, London, UK.
- McIntosh, R. 1981. Fertiliser treatment of Sitka spruce in the establishment phase in upland Britain. Scottish For. 35: 3-13.
- McIntosh, R. 1983. Nitrogen deficiency in establishment phase Sitka spruce in upland Britain. Scottish For. 37: 185-193.
- McKay, H.M. 1994. Frost hardiness and cold-storage tolerance of the root system of *Picea sitchensis*, *Pseudotsuga menziesii*, *Larix kaempferi* and *Pinus sylvestris* bare-root seedlings. Scand. J. For. Res. 9: 203-213.

### ENV/JM/MONO(2002)2

- McLean, J.A. 1989. Effect of red alder overstory on the occurrence of *Pissodes strobi* (Peck) during the establishment of a Sitka spruce plot. *In* Insects affecting reforestation: biology and damage. Proceedings of a Meeting of the IUFRO Working Group on Insects Affecting Reforestation (S2.07-03), held under the auspices of the 18th International Congress of Entomology, 3-9 July 1988, Vancouver, BC. *Edited by* R.I. Alfaro and S.G. Glover. Forestry Canada, Pacific and Yukon Region, Victoria, BC. pp. 167-176.
- McMullen, L.H. 1976. Spruce weevil damage: ecological basis and hazard rating for Vancouver Island. Information Report BC-X-141, Canadian Forestry Service, Pacific Forest Research Centre, Victoria, BC.
- McMullen, L.H., Thomson, A.J. and, Quenet, R. 1987. Sitka spruce weevil (*Pissodes strobi*) population dynamics and control: a simulation model based on field relationships. Information Report BC-X-288, Canadian Forestry Service, Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, BC.
- Mergen, F., Burley, J. and, Furnival, G.M. 1974. Provenance-temperature interactions in four coniferous species. Silvae Genet. 23: 200-210.
- Mikkola, L. 1969. Observations on interspecific sterility in Picea. Ann. Bot. Fenn. 6: 285-339.
- Miller, H.G. and Miller, J.D. 1987. Nutritional requirements of Sitka spruce. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 75-83.
- Miller, K.F. 1986. Windthrow hazard in conifer plantations. Irish For. 43: 66-78.
- Minore, D. 1979. Comparative autecological characteristics of northwestern tree species: a literature review. General Technical Report PNW-87, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, Portland, OR.
- Mitchell, W.K., Dunsworth, G., Simpson, D.G. and, Vyse, A. 1990. Planting and seeding. In Regenerating British Columbia's forests. Edited by D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 235-253.
- Moir, R.B. and Fox, D.P. 1972. Supernumerary chromosomes in *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Silvae Genet. 21: 182-186.
- Moir, R.B. and Fox, D.P. 1975a. Bud differentiation in Sitka spruce, *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Silvae Genet. 24: 193-196.
- Moir, R.B. and Fox, D.P. 1975b. Male meiosis in Sitka spruce, *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Silvae Genet. 25: 187-192.
- Moir, R.B. and Fox, D.P. 1976. Supernumerary chromosomes and growth rate in *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Silvae Genet. 25: 139-141.
- Moir, R.B., and Fox, D.P. 1977. Supernumerary chromosome distribution in provenances of *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Silvae Genet. 26: 26-33.

- Moorhouse, S.D., Wilson, G., Hennerty, M.J., Selby, C. and, Mac-An-tSaoir, S. 1996. A plant cell bioreactor with medium-perfusion for control of somatic embryogenesis in liquid cell suspensions. Plant Growth Regulation 20: 53-56.
- Morgenstern, E.K. 1996. Geographic variation in forest trees: genetic basis and application of knowledge in silviculture. UBC Press, Vancouver.
- Morrison, D.J. 1981. Armillaria root disease: a guide to disease diagnosis, development and management in British Columbia. Information Report BC-X-203, Canadian Forestry Service, Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, BC.
- Morrison, D.J., Larock, M.D. and, Waters, A.J. 1986. Stump infection by *Fomes annosus* in spaced stands in the Prince Rupert Forest Region of British Columbia. Information Report BC-X-285, Canadian Forestry Service, Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, BC.
- Namkoong, G. 1995. Keynote address: Conservation of genetic resources. *In* Forest genetic resources conservation and management in Canada. *Edited by* T.C. Nieman, A. Mosseler and G. Murray. Inform. Rep. PI-X-119, Can. For. Serv., Petawawa Nat. For. Inst., Chalk River, ON. pp. vi-ix.
- Neckelmann, J. 1981. Stabilisering af rande og interne laebaelter i rodgranbevoksninger på sandjord. Dansk Skovforen. Tidsskr. 66: 296-314. [English summary]
- Nelson, D.G. 1991. Management of Sitka spruce natural regeneration. Research Information Note No. 204, UK Forestry Commission, Research Division.
- Nelson, E.E. and Sturrock, R.N. 1993. Susceptibility of western conifers to laminated root rot (*Phellinus weirii*) in Oregon and British Columbia field tests. West. J. Appl. For. 8: 67-70.
- Nichols, J.F.A. 1987. Damage and performance of the green spruce aphid, *Elatobium abietinum* on twenty spruce species. Entomol. Exper. Appl. 45: 211-217.
- Nicoll, B.C., Redfern, D.B., and McKay, H.M. 1996. Autumn frost damage: clonal variation in Sitka spruce. For. Ecol. Manage. 80: 107-112.
- Nielsen, U.B. 1994. Genetisk variation i sitkagran (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.) i hojdevaekst, stammeform og frosthaerdighed vurderet ud fra danske proveniens-, afkoms- og klonforsog. Forskningsserien No. 9, Danish Forest and Landscape Research Institute, Lyngby, Denmark. [English summary]
- Nielsen, U.B. and Roulund, H. 1996. Genetic variation in characters of importance for stand establishment in Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.). Silvae Genet. 45: 197-204.
- Nienstaedt, H. and Teich, A. 1972. The genetics of white spruce. Research Paper WO-15, USDA Forest Service, Washington, D.C.
- O'Driscoll, J. 1978. Sitka spruce international ten provenance experiment: results to end of nursery stage. *In* Food and Agriculture Organization: Forest genetic resources information - No. 7. FAO Forestry Occasional Paper No. 1, Food and Agriculture Organization - UN, Rome. pp. 35-46.

- Otchere-Boateng, J. and Herring, L.J. 1990. Site preparation: chemical. *In* Regenerating British Columbia's forests. *Edited by* D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 165-178.
- Owens, J.N. and Blake, M.D. 1984. The pollination mechanism of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*). Can. J. Bot. 62: 1136-1148.
- Owens, J.N. and Blake, M.D. 1985. Forest tree seed production. Inform. Rep. PI-X-53, Petawawa National Forestry Institute, Can. For. Serv., Chalk River, ON.
- Owens, J.N. and Molder, M. 1976a. Bud development in Sitka spruce. I. Annual growth cycle of the vegetative buds and shoots. Can. J. Bot. 54: 313-325.
- Owens, J.N. and Molder, M. 1976b. Bud development in Sitka spruce. II. Cone differentation and early development. Can. J. Bot. 54: 766-779.
- Owens, J.N. and Molder, M. 1980. Sexual reproduction of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*). Can. J. Bot. 58: 886-901.
- Owens, J.N., Philipson, J.J. and, Harrison, D.L.S. 1992. The effects of the duration and timing of drought plus heat plus gibberellin <sub>A47</sub> on apical meristem development and coning in Sitka spruce. New Phytologist 122: 515-528.
- Page, C.N. and Hollands, R.C. 1987. The taxonomic and biogeographic position of Sitka spruce. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 October 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 13-24.
- Peterson, E.B., Peterson, N.M., Weetman, G.F. and, Martin, P.J. 1997. Ecology and management of Sitka spruce, emphasizing its natural range in British Columbia. UBC Press, Vancouver, BC.
- Philipson, J.J. 1985a. The effect of top pruning, girdling, and gibberellin A47 application on the production and distribution of pollen and seed cones in Sitka spruce. Can. J. For. Res. 15: 1125-1128.
- Philipson, J.J. 1985b. The promotion of flowering in large field-grown Sitka spruce by girdling and stem injections of gibberellin <sub>A47</sub>. Can. J. For. Res. 15: 166-170.
- Philipson, J.J. 1987a. Promotion of cone and seed production by gibberellin A4/7 and distribution of pollen and seed cones on Sitka spruce grafts in a clone bank. For. Ecol. Manage. 19(Flowering and seedbearing in forest seed orchards. Proc. Int. Symp. IUFRO S2.01.00 and S2.01.05, 2-7 Sep. 1985, Kornik, Poland): 147-154.
- Philipson, J.J. 1987b. A review of coning and seed production in *Picea sitchensis*. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 183-195.
- Philipson, J.J. 1992. Optimal conditions for inducing coning of container-grown *Picea sitchensis* grafts: effects of applying different quantities of GA<sub>4/7</sub>, timing and duration of heat and drought treatment, and girdling. For. Ecol. Manage. 53: 39-52.

- Philipson, J.J. 1997. Predicting cone crop potential in conifers by assessment of developing cone buds and cones. Forestry, 70: 87-96.
- Philipson, J.J. and Fletcher, A.M. 1990. Implications of cone induction techniques for breeding strategies and production of improved seed. For. Tree Improv. 23(Proceedings from the Nordic Tree Breeders meeting, September 1990): 69-80.
- Philipson, J.J., Owens, J.N. and, O'Donnell, M.A. 1990. Production and development of seed and pollen in grafts of *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. treated with gibberellin A4/7 to induce coning and the effect of forcing treatments. New Phytologist 116: 695-706.
- Phillips, D.H. and Young, C.W.T. 1976. Group dying of conifers. Leaflet No. 65, UK Forestry Commission, Farnham, UK.
- Phillips, M.T.T. 1984. Small-scale seed collections can cause problems. Forestry and British Timber 13: 26-27.
- Pintaric, K. 1972. Effect of stratification on the germination of seeds of *Picea sitchensis*. Sumarski List 96: 63-68. [English summary]
- Pollard, D.F.W. 1995. Ecological reserves. *In* Forest genetic resources conservation and management in Canada. *Edited by* T.C. Nieman, A. Mosseler and G. Murray. Inform. Rep. PI-X-119, Can. For. Serv., Petawawa Nat. For. Inst., Chalk River, ON. pp. 21-26.
- Pollard, D.F.W. and, Portlock, F.T. 1990. Certification of tree seed for export from Canada, 1980-1989: lodgepole pine, Sitka spruce, Douglas-fir, alpine fir and grand fir. *In* Proceedings of the Joint Meeting of Western Forest Genetics Association and IUFRO Working Parties S2.02-05, 06, 12, and 14, 20-24 August 1990, Olympia, WA. pp. 247-254.
- Pollard, D.F.W., Teich, A.H. and, Logan, K.T. 1975. Seedling shoot and bud development in provenances of Sitka spruce, *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. Can. J. For. Res. 5: 18-25.
- Portlock, F.T. 1996. Forest tree seed certification in Canada under the OECD scheme and ISTA rules: summary report for 1991-1995. Information Report BC-X-361, Canadian Forest Service, Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, BC.
- Poulsen, K.M. 1996. Prolonged cold, moist pretreatment of conifer seeds at controlled moisture content. Seed Sci. & Technol. 24: 75-87.
- Powell, W. and Parry, W.H. 1976. Effects of temperature on overwintering populations of the green spruce aphid *Elatobium abietinum*. Ann. Appl. Biol. 82: 209-219.
- Prager, E.M., Fowler, D.P. and, Wilson, A.C. 1976. Rates of evolution in conifers (Pinaceae). Evolution, 30: 637-649.
- Pratt, J.E. 1979a. Fomes annosus butt-rot of Sitka spruce. II. Loss of strength of wood in various categories of rot. Forestry, 52: 31-45.
- Pratt, J.E. 1979b. Fomes annosus butt rot of Sitka spruce. III. Losses in yield and value of timber in diseased trees and stands. Forestry, 52: 113-127.

- Prescott, C.E. and Weetman, G.F. 1994. Salal Cedar Hemlock Integrated Research Program: a Synthesis. Faculty of Forestry, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC.
- Redfern, D.B. 1978. Infection by *Armillaria mellea* and some factors affecting host resistance and the severity of disease. Forestry, 51: 121-135.
- Redfern, D.B. and Cannell, M.G.R. 1982. Needle damage in Sitka spruce caused by early autumn frosts. Forestry, 55: 38-45.
- Reynolds, K.M. and Holsten, E.H. 1996. Classification of spruce beetle hazard in Lutz and Sitka spruce stands on the Kenai Peninsula, Alaska. For. Ecol. Manage. 84: 251-262.
- Roche, L. 1969. A genecological study of the genus *Picea* in British Columbia. New Phytol. 68: 505-554.
- Roche, L. and Fowler, D.P. 1975. Genetics of Sitka spruce. Research Paper WO-26, USDA Forest Service, Washington, D.C.
- Roche, L. and Haddock, P.G. 1987. Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) in North America with special reference to its role in British forestry. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 October 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 1-12.
- Roche, L., Holst, M.J. and, Teich, A.H. 1969. Genetic variation and its exploitation in white and Engelmann spruce. For. Chron. 45: 445-448.
- Rose, A.H., Lindquist, O.H., and Syme, P. 1994. Insects of eastern spruces, fir and hemlock. Nat. Res. Can., Can. For. Serv., Ottawa, ON.
- Ross, S.D. 1991. Promotion of flowering in a Sitka spruce seed orchard by stem injections of gibberellin A4/7. Research Note No. 107, BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC.
- Roulund, H. 1969. Artskrydsningsforsog i slaegten *Picea*. Dansk Skovforen. Tidsskr. 54: 22-233. [English summary]
- Roulund, H. 1971. Observations on spontaneous hybridization in *Picea omorika* (Pancic) Purkyne. For. Tree Improv. 2: 2-17.
- Roulund, H. 1978. A comparison of seedlings and clonal cuttings of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.). Silvae Genet. 27: 104-108.
- Roulund, H. 1990. Outline for a revision of the Sitka spruce breeding plan in Denmark. For. Tree Improv. 23(Proceedings from the Nordic Tree Breeders meeting, September 1990): 131-144.
- Roulund, H. and Bergstedt, A. 1982. Sammenligning mellem froplanter og stiklingsformerede kloner af sitkagran (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.): 10 ars resultater. Dansk Skovforen. Tidsskr. 67: 218-235. [English summary]
- Runions, C.J., Catalano, G.L. and, Owens, J.N. 1995. Pollination mechanism of seed orchard interior spruce. Can. J. For. Res. 25: 1434-1444.

- Ruth, R.H. 1958. Silvical characteristics of Sitka spruce. Silvical Series 8, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, Portland, OR.
- Safford, L.O. 1974. *Picea* A. Dietr. Spruce. *In* Seeds of woody plants in the United States. *Edited by* C.S. Schopmeyer. Agricultural Handbook 450, USDA For. Serv., Washington, DC. pp. 587-597.
- Sahota, T.S., Manville, J.F. and, White, E. 1994. Interaction between Sitka spruce weevil and its host, *Picea sitchensis* (Bong) Carr.: a new mechanism for resistance. Can. Ent. 126: 1067-1074.
- Samuel, C.J.A. 1991. The estimation of genetic parameters for growth and stem-form over 15 years in a diallel cross of Sitka spruce. Silvae Genet. 40: 67-72.
- Samuel, C.J.A. and Johnstone, R.C.B. 1979. A study of population variation and inheritance in Sitka spruce. I. Results of glasshouse, nursery and early forest progeny tests. Silvae Genet. 28: 26-32.
- Samuel, C.J.A., Johnstone, R.C.B. and, Fletcher, A.M. 1972. A diallel cross in Sitka spruce: assessment of first year characters in an early glasshouse test. Theor. Appl. Genet. 42: 53-61.
- Sasa, M. and Krogstrup, P. 1991. Ectomycorrhizal formation in plantlets derived from somatic embryos of Sitka spruce. Scand. J. For. Res. 6(1): 129-136.
- Schmidt-Vogt, H. 1977. Die Fichte. Band I. [The spruces. Vol. 1]. Paul Parey, Hamburg.
- Schober, R. 1962: Die Sitka-Fichte. Schriften aus der Forstlichen Fakultät der Universität Göttingen und der Niedersächsischen Forstlichen Versuchsanstalt, Band 24/25, Sauerländer`s Verlag 'Frankfurt/Main, 230 S.
- Schütt, P. and Lang, U.M. 1995: Picea sitchensis (Bong.) Carr. In Schütt, P. et al (Hrsg.): Enzyklopädie der Holzgewächse. Ecomed Verlag, Landsberg. 14 S.
- Schwenke, W. 1972: Die Forstschädlinge Europas. Band I. Verlag P. Parey, Hamburg, Berlin. 474 S.
- Seaby, D.A. and Mowat, D.J. 1993. Growth changes in 20-year-old Sitka spruce *Picea sitchensis* after attack by the green spruce aphid *Elatobium abietinum*. Forestry, 66: 371-379.
- Serrière-Chadoeuf, I. 1986. Production et sylviculture de l'épicéa de Sitka en France. Rev. For. Fr. 38(Amélioration génétique des arbres forestiers): 140-148.
- Shaw, C.G., III, Sidle, R.C. and, Harris, A.S. 1987. Evaluation of planting sites common to a southeast Alaska clear-cut. III. Effects of microsite type and ectomycorrhizal inoculation on growth and survival of Sitka spruce seedlings. Can. J. For. Res. 17: 334-339.
- Sheppard, L.J., and Cannell, M.G.R. 1985. Performance and frost hardiness of *Picea sitchensis* X *Picea glauca* hybrids in Scotland. Forestry, 58: 67-74.
- Spittlehouse, D.L., Sieben, B.G. and, Taylor, S.P. 1994. Spruce weevil hazard mapping based on climate and ground survey data. *In* The white pine weevil: biology, damage and management. Proceedings of a symposium held January 19-21, 1994 in Richmond, British Columbia. *Edited by* R.I. Alfaro, G. Kiss and R.G. Fraser. FRDA Report No. 226, BC Ministry of Forests and Lands, Research Branch, Victoria, BC. pp. 23-32.

- Staines, B.W., Petty, S.J. and, Ratcliffe, P.R. 1987. Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.) forests as a habitat for birds and mammals. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93(Sitka spruce, proceedings of a symposium, Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh, 3-6 Oct. 1986. *Edited by*: D.M. Henderson and R. Faulkner.): 169-181.
- Steinmetz, G. 1986. Le choix des provenances et le classement des peuplements porte-graines. Rev. For. Fr. 38(Amélioration génétique des arbres forestiers): 69-73.
- Stone, E.L. and Stone, M.H. 1943. "Dormant" versus "adventitious" buds. Science, 98: 62.
- Stratmann, J. 1988: Ausländeranbau in Niedersachsen und den angrenzenden Gebieten. Schriften aus der Forstlichen Fakultät der Universität Göttingen und der Niedersächsischen ForstlichenVersuchsanstalt, Band 91, Sauerländer`s Verlag Frankfurt /Main, 131 S.
- Stratmann, J. and Tegeler, R. 1987. Die Sitkafichten-Provenienzversuche der Niedersachsischen Forstlichen Versuchsanstalt von 1956 und 1961 in Nordwestdeutschland. Allg. For. Jagdzeitg. 158: 11-18.
- Straw, N.A. 1995. Climate change and the impact of green spruce aphid, *Elatobium abietinum* (Walker), in the UK. Scottish For. 49: 134-145.
- Sullivan, T.P., Harestad, A.S. and, Wikeem, B.M. 1990. Control of mammal damage. *In* Regenerating British Columbia's forests. *Edited by* D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 302-318.
- Sullivan, T.P., Jackson, W.T., Pojar, J. and, Banner, A. 1986. Impact of feeding damage by the porcupine on western hemlock - Sitka spruce forests of north-coastal British Columbia. Can. J. For. Res. 16: 642-647.
- Sutherland, J.R. and Hunt, R.S. 1990. Diseases in reforestation. *In* Regenerating British Columbia's forests. *Edited by* D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 266-278.
- Sutherland, J.R., Miller, T. and, Quinard, R.S. 1987. Cone and seed diseases of North American conifers. North American Forestry Commission Publ. No. 1, Canadian Forestry Service, Ottawa, ON.
- Sutherland, J.R., Shrimpton, G.M. and, Sturrock, R.N. 1989. Diseases and insects in British Columbia forest seedling nurseries. FRDA Report No. 65, Forestry Canada and British Columbia Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC.
- Sutton, B.C.S., Flanagan, D.J. and, El-Kassaby, Y.A. 1991a. A simple and rapid method for estimating representation of species in spruce seedlots using chloroplast DNA restriction fragment length polymorphism. Silvae Genet. 40: 119-123.
- Sutton, B.C.S., Flanagan, D.J., Gawley, J.R., Newton, C.H., Lester, D.T. and, El-Kassaby, Y.A. 1991b. Inheritance of chloroplast and mitochondrial DNA in *Picea* and composition of hybrids from introgression zones. Theor. Appl. Genet. 82: 242-248.

- Sutton, B.C.S., Pritchard, S.C., Gawley, J.R., Newton, C.H. and, Kiss, G.K. 1994. Analysis of Sitka spruce interior spruce introgression in British Columbia using cytoplasmic and nuclear DNA probes. Can. J. For. Res. 24: 278-285.
- Taylor, A.H. 1990. Disturbance and persistence of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong) Carr.) in coastal forests of the Pacific Northwest, North America. J. Biogeography 17: 47-58.
- Taylor, C.M.A. 1990. Survey of forest fertiliser prescriptions in Scotland. Scottish For. 44: 3-9.
- Taylor, C.M.A. and Tabbush, P.M. 1990. Nitrogen deficiency in Sitka spruce plantations. Bulletin No. 89, UK Forestry Commission, Farnham, UK.
- Thaarup, P. 1945. Bastarden sitkagran X hvidgran. Dansk Skovforen. Tidsskr. 30: 381-384.
- Thies, E.G. and Sturrock, R.N. 1995. Laminated root rot in western North America. General Technical Report PNW-GTR-349, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- Thomas, G.W. and Jackson, R.M. 1983. Growth responses of sitka spruce seedlings to mycorrhizal inoculation. New Phytologist 95(2): 223-229.
- Thomas, G.W., Rogers, D. and, Jackson, R.M. 1983. Changes in the mycorrhizal status of Sitka spruce following outplanting. *Pp.* 319-323 *In:* Tree root systems and their mycorrhizas [edited by Atkinson, D.; et al.]. Nijhoff/Junk, The Hague, Netherlands.
- Thompson, D.G. and Pfeifer, A.R. 1995. Sitka Spruce IUFRO Provenance Trial 19 Year Irish Results. In: Evolution of Breeding strategies for conifers from the Pacific Northwest. Proc.Joint Meeting of the IUFRO Working parties S2.02.05.,06, 12 and 14. Limoges (France). SS.1,6 S.
- Tomlin, E.S. and Borden, J.H. 1994. Relationship between leader morphology and resistance or susceptibility of Sitka spruce to the white pine weevil. Can. J. For. Res. 24: 810-816.
- Tomlin, E.S. and Borden, J.H. 1997a. Multicomponent index for evaluating resistance by Sitka spruce to the white pine weevil (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). J. Econ. Entomol. 90: 704-714.
- Tomlin, E.S. and Borden, J.H. 1997b. Thin bark and high density of outer resin ducts: interrelated resistance traits in Sitka spruce against the white pine weevil (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). J. Econ. Entomol. 90: 235-239.
- Tomlin, E.S., Borden, J.H. and, Pierce, H.D., Jr. 1996. Relationship between cortical resin acids and resistance of Sitka spruce to the white pine weevil. Can. J. Bot. 74: 599-606.
- Tompsett, P.B. 1978. Studies of growth and flowering in *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. II. Initiation and development of male, female and vegetative buds. Ann. Bot. 42: 889-900.
- Touzet, G. 1983. Les chablis des 6-7-8 novembre 1982 dans le Massif Central. Comptes Rendus des Séances de l'Académie d'Agriculture de France 69: 722-732.

- Van Eerden, E. and Gates, J.W. 1990. Seedling production and processing: container. *In* Regenerating British Columbia's forests. *Edited by* D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 226-234.
- Vaudelet, J.C. 1982. Conseils aux reboiseurs de la Bretagne septentrionale. Inform. For. 1: 33-52.
- Wainhouse, D. and Ashburner, R. 1996. The influence of genetic and environmental factors on a quantitative defensive trait in spruce. Functional Ecology 10: 137-143.
- Walker, C. 1987. Sitka spruce mycorrhizas. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B (Biol. Sci.) 93: 117-129.
- Wallace, D.R. and Sullivan, C.R. 1985. The white pine weevil, *Pissodes strobi* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae): a review emphasizing behavior and development in relation to physical factors. Proc. Ent. Soc. Ont. 116(Supplement: White pine symposium, Petawawa National Forestry Institute, 14 September 1984. *Edited by*: C.R. Sullivan, C.A. Plexman, R.D. Whitney, W.M. Stiell and D.R. Wallace.): 39-62.
- Warkentin, D.L., Overhulser, D.L., Gara, R.I. and, Hinckley, T.M. 1992. Relationships between weather patterns, Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) stress, and possible tip weevil (*Pissodes strobi*) infestation levels. Can. J. For. Res. 22: 667-673.
- Weetman, G.F. and Vyse, A. 1990. Natural regeneration. *In* Regenerating British Columbia's forests. *Edited by* D.P. Lavender, R. Parish, C.M. Johnson, G. Montgomery, A. Vyse, R.A. Willis and D. Winston. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, BC. pp. 118-130.
- Welch, D., Staines, B.W., Scott, D. and, Catt, D.C. 1987. Bark stripping damage by red deer in a Sitka spruce forest in western Scotland. I. Incidence. Forestry, 60: 249-262.
- Welch, D., Staines, B.W., Scott, D. and, French, D.D. 1992. Leader browsing by red and roe deer on young Sitka spruce trees in western Scotland. II. Effects on growth and tree form. Forestry, 65: 309-330.
- Welch, D., Staines, B.W., Scott, D., French, D.D. and, Catt, D.C. 1991. Leader browsing by red and roe deer on young Sitka spruce trees in western Scotland. I. Damage rates and the influence of habitat factors. Forestry, 64: 61-82.
- Wellendorf, H. and Kaufmann, U. 1977. Thin layer chromatography of fluorescent phenolic compounds in needles. Geographic variation in *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr. For. Tree Improv. 11: 1-21.
- Woods, J.H. 1988. Nursery trials of Sitka-interior spruce hybrids. FRDA Memo 59, BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC.
- Wright, J.W. 1955. Species crossability in spruce in relation to distribution and taxonomy. For. Sci. 1: 319-349.
- Wright, J.W. 1976. Introduction to forest genetics. Academic Press, New York.

- Yanchuk, A.D. 1995. A gene conservation strategy for B.C. conifers: a summary of current approaches. *In* Forest genetic resources conservation and management in Canada. *Edited by* T.C. Nieman, A. Mosseler and G. Murray. Informormation Report PI-X-119, Canadian Forest Service, Petawawa National Forestry Institute, Chalk River, ON. pp. 3-14.
- Yanchuk, A.D. and Lester, D.T. 1996. Setting priorities for conservation of the conifer genetic resources of British Columbia. For. Chron. 72: 406-415.
- Yeh, F.C. and Arnott, J.T. 1986. Electrophoretic and morphological differentiation of *Picea sitchensis*, *Picea glauca*, and their hybrids. Can. J. For. Res. 16: 791-798.
- Yeh, F.C. and El-Kassaby, Y.A. 1980. Enzyme variation in natural populations of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*). 1. Genetic variation patterns among trees from 10 IUFRO provenances. Can. J. For. Res. 10: 415-422.
- Yeh, F.C. and Rasmussen, S. 1985. Heritability of height growth in 10-year-old Sitka spruce. Can. J. Genet. Cytol. 27: 729-735.
- Ying, C.C. 1990. Adaptive variation in Douglas-fir, Sitka spruce, and true fir: a summary of provenance research in coastal British Columbia. *In* Proceedings of the Joint Meeting of Western Forest Genetics Association and IUFRO Working Parties S2.02-05, 06, 12, and 14, 20-24 August 1990, Olympia, WA. pp. 378-379.
- Ying, C.C. 1991. Genetic resistance to the white pine weevil in Sitka spruce. Research Note No. 106, B.C. Ministry of Forests, Research Branch, Victoria, BC.
- Ying, C.C. and Ebata, T. 1994. Provenance variation in weevil attack in Sitka spruce. *In* The white pine weevil: biology, damage and management. Proceedings of a symposium held January 19-21, 1994 in Richmond, British Columbia. *Edited by* R.I. Alfaro, G. Kiss and R.G. Fraser. FRDA Report No. 226, BC Ministry of Forests and Lands, Research Branch, Victoria, BC. pp. 98-109.
- Ying, C.C. and Morgenstern, E.K. 1982. Hardiness and growth of western spruce species and hybrids in Ontario. Can. J. For. Res. 12: 1017-1020.
- Young, W. 1989. The Green Timbers plantations: a British Columbia forest heritage. For. Chron. 65: 183-184.

## ENV/JM/MONO(2002)2

# **QUESTIONNAIRE TO RETURN TO THE OECD**

The **Consensus Document on the Biology of Sitka spruce** (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.) is one in a series of OECD "consensus documents" containing information for use during a regulatory assessment of a particular micro-organism, or of a new plant variety developed through modern biotechnology. These documents have been developed with the intention that they will be updated regularly to reflect scientific and technical developments.

Users of this document are invited to provide the Environmental Health and Safety Division with relevant new scientific and technical information, and to make proposals for additional areas related to this subject which ought to be considered in the future. This questionnaire is pre-addressed (see reverse). Respondents may either mail this page (or a photocopy) to the OECD, or forward the information requested via fax or E-mail.

> OECD Environment Directorate Environmental Health and Safety Division 2, rue André-Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16 France

## Fax: (33) (1) 45.24.16.75 E-mail: ehscont@oecd.org

For more information about the Environmental Health and Safety Division and its publications (many of which are available electronically at no charge), consult the OECD's World Wide Web site: http://www.oecd.org/ehs/

1.	Did you find information in this document useful to your work?	
2.	Please specify the type of work you do: REGULATORY ACADEMIC INDUSTRY OTHER (please specify)	

3. Please suggest changes or additions that should be considered when this document is updated.

4. Are there other areas related to this subject which should be considered when the document is updated?

Name:				
Institution or company:				
Address:				
City: Postal code:	Country:			
Telephone:	Fax:	E-mail:		

### ENV/JM/MONO(2002)2

### FOLD ALONG DOTTED LINES AND SEAL

PLACE Stamp Here

OECD Environment Directorate Environmental Health and Safety Division 2, rue André Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16 France

FOLD ALONG DOTTED LINES AND SEAL